TANGENT SPACES AND T-INVARIANT CURVES OF SCHUBERT VARIETIES

WILLIAM GRAHAM AND VICTOR KREIMAN

ABSTRACT. The set of T-invariant curves in a Schubert variety through a T-fixed point is relatively easy to characterize in terms of its weights, but the tangent space is more difficult. We prove that the weights of the tangent space are contained in the rational cone generated by the weights of the T-invariant curves. In simply laced types, this remains true if "rational" is replaced by "integral". We also obtain conditions under which every weight of the tangent space is the weight of a T-invariant curve, as well as a smoothness criterion. The results rely on equivariant K-theory, as well as the study of different notions of decomposability of roots.

CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Indecomposability in root sets: definitions and basic properties	7
3.	Decomposing into indecomposables	9
4.	Iso-indecomposability in inversion sets	13
5.	Increasing and iso-indecomposability	17
6.	Equivalent indecomposabilities	18
7.	When all elements are indecomposable	24
8.	Tangent spaces and T -invariant curves	26
9.	Indecomposable weights of tangent spaces and T -invariant curves	29
10.	When tangent weights are curve weights	32
11.	Examples	34
References		37

Date: April 14, 2024.

¹⁹⁹¹ Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 14M15; Secondary 05E15. Keywords: K-theory, Schubert variety, flag variety, Grassmannian, cominuscule.

1. INTRODUCTION

Let G be a semisimple algebraic group over an algebraically closed field of characteristic zero. Let $B \supset T$ be a Borel subgroup and maximal torus of G, respectively, and let P be a parabolic subroup containing B. Let X be a Schubert variety in the generalized flag variety G/P, by which we mean the closure of an orbit of the Borel subgroup B^- opposite to B, and let x be a T-fixed point of X. In this paper we study two spaces: the tangent space to X at x, denoted T_xX , and the span of tangent lines to T-invariant curves through x, denoted TE_xX . These spaces are multiplicity-free representations of T, and so are characterized by their sets of weights, which we denote by Φ_{tan} and Φ_{cur} respectively.

In [LS84], Lakshmibai and Seshadri obtained a formula for Φ_{tan} in type A and gave criteria based on this formula for X to be smooth at x. Lakshmibai then gave detailed formulas for Φ_{tan} in all classical types [Lak95], [Lak00a], and [Lak00b]. Polo gave a representation-theoretic description of Φ_{tan} in [Pol94]. See also [BL00, Chapter 5]. In [Car94], Carrell and Peterson gave a formula for Φ_{cur} and discovered a test for determining whether X is rationally smooth at x.

The Carrell-Peterson formula for Φ_{cur} has certain advantages: it holds in all types, is type-independent and relatively simple, and has clear connections to combinatorics. The purpose of this paper is to study the relationship between Φ_{tan} and Φ_{cur} , with an eye toward replacing Φ_{tan} by the computationally simpler Φ_{cur} in certain applications. It is known that $\Phi_{cur} \subseteq \Phi_{tan}$, with equality in type A. Our main result is the following:

Theorem 1.1. $\Phi_{tan} \subseteq \operatorname{Cone}_A \Phi_{cur}$.

In this theorem and throughout this section $A = \mathbb{Q}$; in simply laced types all results hold for $A = \mathbb{Z}$ as well. By $\operatorname{Cone}_A \Phi_{\operatorname{cur}}$, we mean the set of all nonnegative A-linear combinations of elements of $\Phi_{\operatorname{cur}}$. An alternative proof of this result for $A = \mathbb{Q}$, suggested by the referee (who attributed it to "folklore"), is given in Remark 9.5.

For several special cases, Theorem 1.1 is known. These are discussed in the paragraph following Theorem 1.2. For the remaining cases, however, Theorem 1.1 is new, even in classical types (besides type A). Indeed, Lakshmibai's formulas for the tangent spaces are very complicated, and it is not obvious how to use them to deduce Theorem 1.1.

Theorem 1.1 is equivalent to the assertion that Φ_{tan} and Φ_{cur} generate the same cone *C* over *A*. This in turn is equivalent to the assertion that Φ_{tan} and Φ_{cur} have the same *A*-indecomposable elements, where an element of a set is *A*-indecomposable if it cannot be written as a positive *A*-linear combination of other elements of the set. In the case $A = \mathbb{Q}$, such indecomposable elements correspond to the edges of *C*. More precisely, each indecomposable element lies on one edge, and each edge contains one indecomposable element. Under certain conditions, Theorem 1.1 can be strengthened. The T-fixed point x can be represented by a Weyl group element, which, by abuse of notation, we denote by x as well.

Theorem 1.2. Suppose that G is simply laced and that (i) G/P is cominuscule; or (ii) x is a cominuscule Weyl group element in the sense of Peterson; or (iii) G is of type D and x is fully commutative. Then $\Phi_{tan} = \Phi_{cur}$.

For minuscule G/P, the conclusion of Theorem 1.2 follows from [Pol94, Corollary 4.3] (attributed there to [LS84]). Note that the list of minuscule and cominuscule G/P differ only in types B_n and C_n (see [BL00, 2.11.15, 9.0.14]). By [Car97, Corollary 2], the conclusion of the theorem also holds in type C_n when $x = w_0$.

Part (iii) of Theorem 1.2 is a generalization in type D of (ii), since cominuscule Weyl group elements are fully commutative, but Stembridge (see [Ste01]) provides an example in type D of a fully commutative element which is not cominuscule. See Remark 7.5 below.

As an application of Theorem 1.2, a smoothness criterion can be deduced. The Schubert variety X is defined by a Weyl group element w such that $w \leq x$ in the Bruhat-Chevalley order. Thus, any reduced expression **s** for x contains a reduced subexpression for w.

Theorem 1.3. Suppose that G is simply laced and any of the three conditions of Theorem 1.2 are satisfied. Let \mathbf{s} be any reduced decomposition for x. Then X is smooth at x if and only if \mathbf{s} contains a unique reduced subexpression for w.

It can be deduced from [GK15, Corollary 2.11] that this criterion for smoothness in fact holds whenever G/P is cominuscule, even without the simply laced requirement. Further discussion of the criterion appears in [GK24].

In [Car97], Carrell obtained results which are related to those of this paper. Let us denote the linear span of the reduced tangent cone to X at x by TR_xX . Then

$$TE_x X \subseteq TR_x X \subseteq T_x X. \tag{1.1}$$

Clearly, in all cases discussed above for which $\Phi_{tan} = \Phi_{cur}$, the three spaces of (1.1) are equal. The space TR_xX , like TC_xX and T_xX , is a representation of T, and so is characterized by its set of weights. In [Car97, Theorem 2], Carrell proved that this set of weights is contained in the set of roots in the real convex hull of Φ_{cur} , with equality in simply laced types.

In addition to the results by Lakshmibai-Seshadri and Carroll-Peterson discussed above, a number of other papers have studied smoothness and rational smoothness of Schubert varieties. These include Lakshmibai-Sandhya [LS90], Kumar [Kum96], Billey [Bil98], Lakshmibai-Littelmann-Magyar [LLM98], Brion [Bri99], Billey-Warrington [BW03], Boe-Graham [BG03], Carrell-Kuttler [CK03], Gaussent [Gau03], and Kassel-Lascoux-Reutenauer [KLR03]. We refer the reader to [BL00, Chapters 6 and 8] for a detailed discussion of this topic.

Another application of Theorem 1.1 appears in [GK24], which studies multiplicities of singular points of Schubert varieties.

1.1. Outline of the proof of Theorem 1.1. This theorem builds on the work of [GK22] connecting Demazure products with weights of tangent spaces. Here, that connection appears as Theorem 1.4, which is proved using the methods of [GK22]. The theorem of Carrell and Peterson describing Φ_{cur} ([Car94]) also plays a key role. The proof of Theorem 1.1 also requires a detailed study of decomposability of roots. An important new ingredient is the notion of iso-decomposability, which, as shown by Theorem 4.11, appears naturally in the study of inversion sets of Weyl group elements.

In order to prove Theorem 1.1, which concerns the Schubert variety X, we first prove an analogous but stronger result for the Kazhdan-Lusztig variety $Y \subseteq X$ with T-fixed point x. The reason we work with Y rather than X is that the tangent space to Y at xlives in an ambient space with weights $I(x^{-1})$, the inversion set of x^{-1} , and algebraic properties related to $I(x^{-1})$ are essential to our proof.

Fix a reduced expression $\mathbf{s} = (s_1, \ldots, s_l)$ for x. It is known that the roots of $I(x^{-1})$ can be enumerated explicitly by the formula $\gamma_i = s_1 \cdots s_{i-1}(\alpha_i)$, $i = 1, \ldots, l$, where α_i is the simple root corresponding to s_i . Based on this same expression \mathbf{s} , define x_i and z_i to be the ordinary and Demazure products respectively of $(s_1, \ldots, \hat{s}_i, \ldots, s_l)$ (see Section 4.1 for the formal definition of z_i). Denote the weights of the tangent space to Y at x by $\Phi_{\text{tan}}^{\text{KL}}$, and the weights of the tangent lines to T-invariant curves of Y through x by $\Phi_{\text{cur}}^{\text{KL}}$. It follows easily from a result of Carrell and Peterson ([Car94]) that $\text{Cone}_A \Phi_{\text{cur}}^{\text{KL}} = \text{Cone}_A \{\gamma_i \mid x_i \geq w\}$ (indeed, this result holds before taking cones). For $\Phi_{\text{tan}}^{\text{KL}}$, we have the following result, which follows from the methods of [GK22].

Theorem 1.4. $\Phi_{\text{tan}}^{\text{KL}} \subseteq \text{Cone}_A \{ \gamma_i \mid z_i \geq w \}.$

See Proposition 9.1. The main result of [GK22] is that if γ_i is an integrally indecomposable element of $I(x^{-1})$, then γ_i is in $\Phi_{\text{tan}}^{\text{KL}}$ if and only if $z_i \geq w$. Theorem 1.4 is a related result which applies to all elements of $\Phi_{\text{tan}}^{\text{KL}}$.

The following equality of cones, which appears in the body of the paper as Corollary 5.5, is our main technical result.

Theorem 1.5. Cone_A{ $\gamma_i \mid z_i \ge w$ } = Cone_A{ $\gamma_i \mid x_i \ge w$ }.

The proof of Theorem 1.5 is taken up in Sections 3 - 5. Before discussing this proof, we point out that Theorems 1.4 and 1.5 together clearly imply $\Phi_{\text{tan}}^{\text{KL}} \subseteq \text{Cone}_A \Phi_{\text{cur}}^{\text{KL}}$. This statement is stronger than Theorem 1.1. Indeed, a neighborhood of x in X is isomorphic to the product Y by the tangent space to the *B*-orbit at x, which is a representation of T. Denoting the weights of this representation by Φ' , we have $\Phi_{tan} = \Phi_{tan}^{KL} \sqcup \Phi'$ and $\Phi_{cur} = \Phi_{cur}^{KL} \sqcup \Phi'$. Thus $\Phi_{tan}^{KL} \subseteq \operatorname{Cone}_A \Phi_{cur}^{KL}$ implies $\Phi_{tan} \subseteq \operatorname{Cone}_A \Phi_{cur}$.

The proof of Theorem 1.5 entails establishing various relationships among cones, indecomposability, 0-Hecke algebras, and Weyl groups. The inclusion $\text{Cone}_A\{\gamma_i \mid x_i \geq w\} \subseteq \text{Cone}_A\{\gamma_i \mid z_i \geq w\}$ follows from the fact that $x_i \leq z_i$ for all *i*. In order to prove the other inclusion, we introduce two types of indecomposable elements: *increasing A-indecomposable* and *iso-indecomposable*. Their definitions are deferred to Section 2. In Sections 3, 5, and 4 respectively, we prove:

- (i) Every element of $\{\gamma_i \mid z_i \geq w\}$ is a positive A-linear combination of increasing A-indecomposable elements which lie in $\{\gamma_i \mid z_i \geq w\}$ (Corollary 3.8).
- (ii) Increasing A-indecomposable elements are iso-indecomposable (Proposition 5.3).
- (iii) Iso-indecomposable elements γ_i satisfy $z_i = x_i$ (Corollary 4.12).

Together these statements imply that every element of $\{\gamma_i \mid z_i \geq w\}$ is a positive *A*-linear combination of elements which lie in $\{\gamma_i \mid x_i \geq w\}$. Thus $\{\gamma_i \mid z_i \geq w\} \subseteq$ Cone_{*A*} $\{\gamma_i \mid x_i \geq w\}$, completing the proof of Theorem 1.5.

The proof of Theorem 1.1 does not rely on Sections 6 and 7. The main result of these sections, Theorem 6.1, is that for inversion sets in classical and type G_2 root systems, the notions of rational indecomposability and iso-indecomposability are equivalent, and in simply laced types are equivalent to integral indecomposability. This result, which we view as of independent interest, has a number of consequences, and is used in the proofs of Theorems 1.2 and 1.3.

1.2. Organization of the paper. In Section 2 we define various notions of decomposition and indecomposability in *root sets*, where a root set is a generalization of the set of positive roots of a root system. Sections 3 - 7 mainly address general root sets and the root set $I(x^{-1})$. The purpose of Sections 3, 4, and 5, as discussed above, is to prove Theorem 1.5, the main technical result needed for the proof of Theorem 1.1. The purpose of Sections 6 and 7 is to establish further properties of indecomposability in $I(x^{-1})$ needed in later sections to prove Theorems 1.2 and 1.3 respectively. Specifically, in Section 6, we show that various types of indecomposability in $I(x^{-1})$ are equivalent in classical types and type G_2 ; in Section 7, we examine conditions under which all elements of a root set are indecomposable.

In Sections 8 - 10, we narrow our focus to the root sets Φ_{cur} , $\Phi_{tan} \subseteq I(x^{-1})$. In Section 8, we review known properties of these two roots sets together with some known facts about Schubert varieties, Kazhdan-Lusztig varieties, and *T*-invariant curves. In Section 9, Theorem 1.1 is proved, and in Section 10, Theorems 1.2 and 1.3 are proved. Finally, Section 11 contains examples: we apply Theorem 1.1 to study tangent spaces of singular three-dimensional Schubert varieties, and verify Theorem 1.1 by direct calculation for a family of examples in type D_n .

1.3. Notation. We introduce some notation related to algebraic groups, which will be used throughout the paper. Let G be a semisimple Lie group defined over an algebraically closed field of characteristic 0, and let $B \supset T$ denote a Borel subgroup and maximal torus of G, respectively. If V is a representation of T, we write $\Phi(V)$ for the set of T-weights of V. If N is a unipotent subgroup of G normalized by T, then as a T-space, N is isomorphic to its Lie algebra \mathfrak{n} , which is a representation of T. We write $\Phi(N)$ for $\Phi(\mathfrak{n})$, and refer to this set as the weights of N.

Let Φ be the set of roots of G relative to T. Let Φ^+ and Φ^- be the sets of positive and negative roots, chosen so that root spaces corresponding to positive roots are contained in Lie(B). Let B^- be the opposite Borel subgroup to B.

Let $W = N_G(T)/T$, the Weyl group of G. We will use the same letter to denote an element of W and a lift of this element to G. We denote by s_{α} the reflection in W corresponding to $\alpha \in \Phi$. Let S' be the set of simple reflections in W relative to B. The length of $w \in W$ is denoted by $\ell(w)$; the longest element in W is w_0 .

Let P be a parabolic subgroup containing B, and let P^- be the opposite parabolic subgroup to P. Let $L = P \cap P^-$ be the Levi subgroup of P containing T, and let $W_P = N_L(T)/T$, the Weyl group of L. Each coset uW_P in W/W_P contains a unique representative of minimal length; denote the set of minimal length coset representatives by $W^P \subseteq W$. When P = B, we have L = T, and $W^P = W$.

The torus acts on the generalized flag variety G/P by left translation. The *T*-fixed points are the cosets wP for $w \in W^P$. The Schubert varieties we consider are closures of B^- -orbits: X_0^w is the Schubert cell $B^- \cdot wP$, and its closure is the Schubert variety X^w . The closures of *B*-orbits will be referred to as opposite Schubert varieties; in particular, $X_w^0 = B \cdot wP$ denotes the opposite Schubert cell at wP, and X_w its closure. The relation between the two types of Schubert varieties is that

$$w_0 X_{w_0 w} = X^w$$
 and $w_0 \Phi(T_{w_0 x} X_{w_0 w}) = \Phi(T_x X^w).$ (1.2)

This relation can be used to translate results from one type of Schubert variety to the other.

We have $X^x \subseteq X^w$ if and only if $x \ge w$ in the Bruhat-Chevalley order (see [BL00, Section 2.7]). In particular, $X^e = G/P$ and X^{w_0} is the B^- -fixed point. The *T*-fixed points of X^w are the xP with $x \ge w$ in the Bruhat order.

Let U, U^- , and U_P^- be the unipotent radicals of B, B^- , and P^- respectively. Define $U^-(x) = xU^-x^{-1}$ and $U_P^-(x) = xU_P^-x^{-1}$. The subgroups $U, U^-, U_P^-, U^-(x)$, and $U_P^-(x)$ are unipotent. The weights of the first three of these under the T action are denoted by Φ^+, Φ^- , and Φ_P^- respectively; the weights of the last two are then $x\Phi^-$ and $x\Phi_P^-$ respectively.

2. Indecomposability in root sets: definitions and basic properties

As discussed briefly in Section 1, there is a connection between cones and indecomposability. This connection is explored in Section 3. In this section we focus on indecomposability. We introduce various types of indecomposability and prove some of their basic properties. In order to study indecomposability in a general framework, we introduce the notion of a *root set*.

2.1. Indecomposability definitions. Let M be a lattice which is isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}^n . Let $V_{\mathbb{R}}$ be the associated real vector space $M \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$ and $V_{\mathbb{Q}}$ the rational subspace $M \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$. Recall that a subset S of $V_{\mathbb{R}}$ is contained in an open half-space of $V_{\mathbb{R}}$ if there is a positive definite inner product \langle , \rangle on $V_{\mathbb{R}}$ and an element δ in $V_{\mathbb{R}}$ such that $\langle \delta, \alpha \rangle > 0$ for all $\alpha \in S$. We define a **root set** to be a finite subset S of M such that S is contained in an open half-space of $V_{\mathbb{R}}$ and does not contain both α and $c\alpha$ for a scalar $c \neq 1$. An element of a root set is often referred to as a **root**. A **weight** on a root set is a map $z: S \to W$, where W is a partially ordered set. If W consists of a single element and z is the constant map, then the weight is said to be **trivial**. A root set with a weight is called a **weighted root set**. Any subset of a root set is a root set, and any subset of a weighted root set is a weighted root set. In our applications, M will be the root lattice of a semisimple Lie algebra over an algebraically closed field of characteristic 0, S a set of positive roots, and W the Weyl group of the Lie algebra, equipped with the Bruhat-Chevalley order.

Definition 2.1. Let S be a root set. Let $A \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ and $E \subseteq S$. A linear combination $\alpha = \sum c_i \alpha_i$, with $c_i \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ and $\alpha, \alpha_i \in S$, is said to be

- an A-linear combination if $c_i \in A$ for all i,
- in **E** or by elements of **E** if $\alpha_i \in E$ for all i,
- a **decomposition** if $\alpha_i \neq \alpha$ for all i,
- an A-decomposition if $c_i \in A$ and $\alpha_i \neq \alpha$ for all i,
- an iso-decomposition if it is a \mathbb{Q} -decomposition of the form $\alpha = c\alpha_1 + c\alpha_2$ with $\|\alpha_1\| = \|\alpha_2\|$,
- increasing if S is weighted and $z(\alpha_i) \ge z(\alpha)$ for all i.

Elements of S for which there exists no decomposition are said to be **indecomposable**. Elements $\alpha \in S$ for which there exists no A-decomposition (resp. isodecomposition, increasing A decomposition) are said to be A-indecomposable (resp. iso-indecomposable, increasing A-indecomposable); the set of all such α is denoted by S^A (resp. $S^{\ddagger}, S^{\uparrow A}$).

When referring to A-linear combinations, A-decompositions, or A-indecomposability, the term **rational** or **integral** is often substituted for A when $A = \mathbb{Q}$ or $A = \mathbb{Z}$ respectively.



FIGURE 1. Relationships among five types of indecomposability. Arrows represent inclusions.

Let S be a root set and $A \subseteq \mathbb{R}$. Define

$$\operatorname{Cone}_{A} S = \left\{ \sum c_{i} \alpha_{i} : c_{i} \in A_{\geq 0}, \alpha_{i} \in S \right\} \subseteq V_{\mathbb{R}}.$$

The set S is said to generate $\operatorname{Cone}_A S$.

2.2. Basic properties of A-indecomposability.

Lemma 2.2. Let E and F be subsets of a root set S, and let $A \subseteq \mathbb{R}$. Then

(i) $F \cap S^A \subseteq F^A$. (ii) $F \cap S^A = F^A \cap S^A$. (iii) If $F^A = E^A$, then $F \cap S^A = E \cap S^A$. (iv) $F \cap S^A = (F \cap S^A)^A$. (v) If $F^A = F$ and $E \subseteq F$, then $E^A = E$.

Proof. (i) If $\alpha \in F$ is A-indecomposable in S, then α is A-indecomposable in the smaller set F.

(ii) Since
$$F^A \subseteq F$$
, $F^A \cap S^A \subseteq F \cap S^A$. By (i), $F \cap S^A = (F \cap S^A) \cap S^A \subseteq F^A \cap S^A$.

(iii) By (ii), $F \cap S^A = F^A \cap S^A = E^A \cap S^A = E \cap S^A$.

(iv) Applying (i) twice, $F \cap S^A = (F \cap S^A) \cap F^A \subseteq (F \cap S^A)^A$. The other inclusion is clear.

(v) By (i), $E = E \cap F = E \cap F^A \subseteq E^A$, and the other inclusion is clear.

Definition 2.3. If S is a root set with weight $z: S \to W$, then we define $S_{z \ge w} = \{s \in S \}$ $S \mid z(s) \ge w\}.$

Lemma 2.4. Let S be a root set with weights $z, x: S \to W$, and let $A \subseteq \mathbb{R}$. Then

- (i) $(S^A)_{z \ge w} \subseteq (S_{z \ge w})^A$. (ii) $(S^A)_{z \ge w} = (S_{z \ge w})^A \cap S^A$.

(iii) If
$$(S_{z \ge w})^A = (S_{x \ge w})^A$$
, then $(S^A)_{z \ge w} = (S^A)_{x \ge w}$.
(iv) $(S^A)_{z \ge w} = ((S^A)_{z \ge w})^A$.

Proof. Noting that $S_{z \ge w} \cap S^A = (S^A)_{z \ge w}$, one obtains (i) - (iv) of this lemma from (i) - (iv) respectively of Lemma 2.2 by setting $E = S_{x \ge w}$ and $F = S_{z \ge w}$.

Remark 2.5. In this paper, $(S_{z\geq w})^A$ is more important than $(S^A)_{z\geq w}$. The reason is that the elements of $(S_{z\geq w})^A$ are used in decomposing elements of $S_{z\geq w}$. To be precise, in Section 3, we will show that an element of $S_{z\geq w}$ can be written in terms of indecomposable elements of $S_{z\geq w}$ —that is, in terms of elements of $(S_{z\geq w})^A$. In Corollary 6.7, we show that if S is an inversion set in a root system of classical type or of type G_2 , then $(S^A)_{z\geq w} = (S_{z\geq w})^A$.

3. Decomposing into indecomposables

The base $\Delta \subseteq \Phi^+$ consists of the roots $\gamma \in \Phi^+$ which cannot be expressed as a sum $\gamma = \alpha + \beta$, where $\alpha, \beta \in \Phi^+$. In the literature, such roots γ are said to be *indecomposable*. (This traditional usage differs from our definition of indecomposable in Section 2.) A fundamental property of root systems is that every element of Φ^+ is a positive integer linear combination of roots in Δ . It is well-known that a similar property holds for $S^A \subseteq S$, where $A = \mathbb{Z}$ or \mathbb{Q} : every element of S is a positive A-linear combination of roots in S^A (for $A = \mathbb{Q}$, see Remark 3.12).

In this section we show that an analogous property holds for $S^{\uparrow A} \subseteq S$, where S is a weighted root set and $A = \mathbb{Z}$ or \mathbb{Q} : every element $\alpha \in S$ is an increasing A-linear combination of roots $\alpha_i \in S^{\uparrow A}$. If $z(\alpha) \geq w$, then, since the linear combination is increasing, $z(\alpha_i) \geq w$ for all i. This proves $S_{z \geq w} \subseteq \text{Cone}_A(S^{\uparrow A} \cap S_{z \geq w})$, the main result we will need from this section.

We first study increasing \mathbb{Z} -linear combinations and then the more difficult case of increasing \mathbb{Q} -linear combinations. Recall that δ is chosen so that $\langle \delta, \alpha \rangle > 0$ for all $\alpha \in S$.

Proposition 3.1. Let S be a weighted root set. Then every element of $S \setminus S^{\uparrow \mathbb{Z}}$ has an increasing \mathbb{Z} -decomposition by elements of $S^{\uparrow \mathbb{Z}}$.

Proof. Let $\alpha \in S \setminus S^{\uparrow\mathbb{Z}}$. We can write $\alpha = \sum_i c_i \alpha_i$, where $\alpha_i \in S$ satisfy $z(\alpha_i) \ge z(\alpha)$, and the c_i are nonnegative integers, at least two of which are nonzero. For all i such that $c_i \ne 0$, $\langle \delta, \alpha_i \rangle < \langle \delta, \alpha \rangle$. By induction on $\langle \delta, \cdot \rangle$, if $\alpha_i \notin S^{\uparrow\mathbb{Z}}$, then α_i has an increasing \mathbb{Z} decomposition by elements of $S^{\uparrow\mathbb{Z}}$. We conclude that α has an increasing \mathbb{Z} -decomposition by elements of $S^{\uparrow\mathbb{Z}}$.

The inductive proof above does not extend to the case of increasing \mathbb{Q} -decompositions. This is because $\langle \delta, \alpha_i \rangle$ may not be strictly less than $\langle \delta, \alpha \rangle$. Hence the inductive iteration may not terminate, as seen in the following example. *Example* 3.2. Suppose Φ is of type B_2 , $S = \Phi^+ = \{\epsilon_1, \epsilon_2, \epsilon_1 - \epsilon_2, \epsilon_1 + \epsilon_2\}$, and z is the trivial weight. The element ϵ_1 has a \mathbb{Q} -decomposition

$$\epsilon_1 = \frac{1}{2}(\epsilon_1 + \epsilon_2) + \frac{1}{2}(\epsilon_1 - \epsilon_2).$$
(3.1)

The long root $\epsilon_1 + \epsilon_2$ has a Q-decomposition as a sum of the short roots ϵ_1 and ϵ_2 : write this decomposition as $\epsilon_1 + \epsilon_2 = (\epsilon_1) + (\epsilon_2)$. But now we can decompose the summand ϵ_1 as in (3.1). Substituting into (3.1), we obtain

$$\epsilon_1 = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{1}{2} (\epsilon_1 + \epsilon_2) + \frac{1}{2} (\epsilon_1 - \epsilon_2) + \epsilon_2 \right) + \frac{1}{2} (\epsilon_1 - \epsilon_2).$$

This process can be repeated indefinitely without terminating. Note that in this example, $S^{\uparrow \mathbb{Q}} = \{\epsilon_1 - \epsilon_2, \epsilon_2\}$, and $\epsilon_1 = (\epsilon_1 - \epsilon_2) + \epsilon_2$ is the desired \mathbb{Q} -decomposition of ϵ_1 by elements of $S^{\uparrow \mathbb{Q}}$.

Thus, a more complicated approach is required in order to extend Proposition 3.1 to increasing Q-decompositions.

Lemma 3.3. Let $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n$ be distinct elements of a weighted root set *S*. Suppose that $\alpha_k = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i \alpha_i$ with c_i nonnegative rational numbers, $z(\alpha_i) \ge z(\alpha_k)$ whenever $c_i \ne 0$, and $c_j > 0$ for some $j \ne k$. Then there exists an increasing \mathbb{Q} -decomposition $\alpha_k = \sum_{i=1}^n d_i \alpha_i$ (with $d_k = 0$).

Proof. We have

$$(1 - c_k)\alpha_k = \sum_{i \neq k} c_i \alpha_i.$$
(3.2)

The right side of (3.2) has a positive inner product with δ ; hence so does the left side. This implies that $c_k < 1$. Set $d_i = c_i/(1 - c_k)$ for $i \neq k$, and $d_k = 0$. If $d_i \neq 0$, then $c_i \neq 0$, so $z(\alpha_i) \geq z(\alpha_k)$. Hence $\alpha_k = \sum_{i=1}^n d_i \alpha_i$ is our desired increasing \mathbb{Q} -decomposition.

Lemma 3.4. Let S be a weighted root set. Suppose $E_1 = E \cup \{\alpha\} \subseteq S$, where $\alpha \notin E$, and suppose that α has an increasing \mathbb{Q} -decomposition in E. Then any element of S which has an increasing \mathbb{Q} -decomposition in E_1 has an increasing \mathbb{Q} -decomposition in E.

Proof. Since α has an increasing \mathbb{Q} -decomposition in E, we see that $|E| \geq 2$. Write $E = \{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_{n-1}\}$, with $n \geq 3$, and let $\alpha_n = \alpha$. Let γ be an element of S with an increasing \mathbb{Q} -decomposition in E_1 , and let

$$\gamma = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i \alpha_i \tag{3.3}$$

be such an increasing \mathbb{Q} -decomposition. If $c_n = 0$ we are done; thus assume $c_n \neq 0$. By hypothesis, there is an increasing \mathbb{Q} -decomposition of α_n in E:

$$\alpha_n = \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} d_i \alpha_i \tag{3.4}$$

where we may assume that $d_j \neq 0$ for some j such that $\alpha_j \neq \gamma$. Let $e_i = c_i + c_n d_i$ for i < n; then $e_i \ge 0$ and

$$\gamma = \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} e_i \alpha_i. \tag{3.5}$$

Since $c_n \neq 0$ and $d_j \neq 0$, $e_j \neq 0$. We claim that if $e_i > 0$ then $z(\alpha_i) \geq z(\gamma)$. Indeed, if $e_i > 0$, then either $c_i > 0$, in which case the claim follows since (3.3) is a increasing \mathbb{Q} -decomposition; or $c_n d_i > 0$, in which case, since both (3.4) and (3.3) are increasing Q-decompositions, we have $z(\alpha_i) \ge z(\alpha_n) \ge z(\gamma)$. This proves the claim. If $\gamma \notin E$, then (3.5) is an increasing \mathbb{Q} -decomposition of γ in E and we are done. Therefore, suppose $\gamma \in E$. We claim that if one of the α_i occurring in the summation of (3.5) with $e_i > 0$ is equal to γ , then this summation must have at least three terms with nonzero coefficients. Indeed, suppose that $\alpha_i = \gamma$ and $e_i > 0$. Then $c_i = 0$ (since γ cannot have been one of the terms with nonzero coefficient in the summation of (3.3), by definition of decomposition). Since (3.3) is a decomposition of γ , there must be exist at least two positive c_k in the summation (3.3). At least one of these must satisfy k < n, and this yields $e_k > 0$. So there are at least two nonzero terms in the summation (3.5), namely $e_i \alpha_i$ and $e_k \alpha_k$. These cannot be the only two nonzero terms, since $\gamma = \alpha_i$ but α_k is not a multiple of α_i (by the definition of root set). Therefore there must be at least three nonzero terms in (3.5), proving the claim. Now apply Lemma 3.3 to obtain an increasing \mathbb{Q} -decomposition of γ in E.

Lemma 3.5. If S is a nonempty weighted root set, then $S^{\uparrow Q}$ is nonempty.

Proof. We prove the result by induction on |S|. If S has one element, then $S = S^{\uparrow \mathbb{Q}}$ and the result holds. For the inductive step, suppose that $S = E \cup \{\alpha\}$, where $|E| \ge 1$ and $\alpha \notin E$. Our inductive hypothesis is that $E^{\uparrow \mathbb{Q}}$ is nonempty. If α is increasing \mathbb{Q} -indecomposable in S, then $S^{\uparrow \mathbb{Q}}$ contains α and we are done, so assume that α is increasing \mathbb{Q} -decomposable in S. We will show that $S^{\uparrow \mathbb{Q}} = E^{\uparrow \mathbb{Q}}$; this suffices.

Observe that $S^{\uparrow \mathbb{Q}} \subseteq E^{\uparrow \mathbb{Q}}$. This holds because any element of E which is increasing \mathbb{Q} -indecomposable in S remains increasing \mathbb{Q} -indecomposable in the smaller set E; moreover, α is increasing \mathbb{Q} -decomposable in S. For the reverse inclusion $S^{\uparrow \mathbb{Q}} \supseteq E^{\uparrow \mathbb{Q}}$, we require that if $\gamma \in E$ does not have an increasing \mathbb{Q} -decomposition in E, then it does not have an increasing \mathbb{Q} -decomposition in S. This follows from Lemma 3.4, with $E_1 = S$.

Lemma 3.6. Let S be a weighted root set, let E and F be disjoint subsets of S, and let $E_1 = E \cup F$. Suppose that any $\beta \in F$ has an increasing Q-decomposition in E_1 .

Then any $\gamma \in S$ that has an increasing \mathbb{Q} -decomposition in E_1 has an increasing \mathbb{Q} decomposition in E.

Proof. We may assume that F is nonempty, since otherwise the lemma is trivial. Thus, by Lemma 3.5, $(E_1)^{\uparrow \mathbb{Q}}$ is nonempty. Since F does not intersect $(E_1)^{\uparrow \mathbb{Q}}$, we must have that $E \supseteq (E_1)^{\uparrow \mathbb{Q}}$, and thus E is nonempty. Let $E = \{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_r\}$ and $F = \{\alpha_{r+1}, \ldots, \alpha_n\}$, where $r \ge 1$ and $n \ge r+1$. Let C(j) be the assertion that α_j has an increasing \mathbb{Q} -decomposition in $\{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_{j-1}\}$. We will show that C(j) holds for $j \in \{r+1, \ldots, n\}$.

The assertion C(n) holds by hypothesis. Suppose that $r + 1 \leq j < n$ and that $C(j+1), \ldots, C(n)$ hold. We show by contradiction that C(j) holds as well. Assume that it does not. Since $j \geq r + 1$, α_j has an increasing decomposition in E_1 . Let

$$\alpha_j = \sum_{i=1}^m c_i \alpha_i \tag{3.6}$$

be an increasing \mathbb{Q} -decomposition for α_j in E_1 with m minimal. Since C(j) does not hold, $m \geq j + 1$. Since α_j has an increasing \mathbb{Q} -decomposition in $\{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_m\}$ and, by C(m), α_m has an increasing \mathbb{Q} -decomposition in $\{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_{m-1}\}$, Lemma 3.4 implies that α_j has an increasing \mathbb{Q} -decomposition in $\{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_{m-1}\}$. This contradicts the minimality of m and proves C(j). By induction, C(j) holds for $j \in \{r+1, \ldots, n\}$.

We now complete the proof of the lemma. Suppose that $\gamma \in S$ has an increasing \mathbb{Q} -decomposition in $E_1 = \{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n\}$. Let m be the smallest integer such that γ has an increasing \mathbb{Q} -decomposition in $\{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_m\}$. We must show $m \leq r$. If not, then $m \geq r+1$, so by C(m), α_m has an increasing \mathbb{Q} -decomposition in $\{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_{m-1}\}$. Lemma 3.4 then implies that γ has an increasing \mathbb{Q} -decomposition in $\{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_{m-1}\}$. This contradicts the minimality of m. We conclude that $m \leq r$, as desired. \Box

Theorem 3.7. Let S be a weighted root set. Then every element of $S \setminus S^{\uparrow Q}$ has an increasing \mathbb{Q} -decomposition by elements of $S^{\uparrow Q}$.

Proof. Every $\gamma \in S \setminus S^{\uparrow \mathbb{Q}}$ has an increasing \mathbb{Q} -decomposition in S. Thus, by Lemma 3.6 with $E = S^{\uparrow \mathbb{Q}}$ and $F = S \setminus S^{\uparrow \mathbb{Q}}$, every such γ has an increasing \mathbb{Q} decomposition in $S^{\uparrow \mathbb{Q}}$.

Corollary 3.8. Let S be a weighted root set, and let $A = \mathbb{Q}$ or \mathbb{Z} . Then $S_{z \geq w} \subseteq \text{Cone}_A((S^{\uparrow A})_{z \geq w})$.

Proof. Let $\alpha \in S_{z \geq w}$. By Theorem 3.7 and Proposition 3.1, α is a positive A-linear combination of elements $\alpha_i \in S^{\uparrow A}$ such that $z(\alpha_i) \geq z(\alpha)$. Since $z(\alpha) \geq w$, $z(\alpha_i) \geq w$ for all i, and thus each α_i lies in $S_{z \geq w}$.

Remark 3.9. The reason that we introduce increasing linear combinations in this paper is that they preserve $S_{z\geq w}$, in the sense that if $\alpha = \sum c_i \alpha_i$ is increasing and $\alpha \in S_{z\geq w}$, then $\alpha_i \in S_{z \ge w}$ for all *i*. This property is used to prove both the above corollary and Lemma 5.2.

Corollary 3.10. Let S be a root set, and let $A = \mathbb{Q}$ or Z. Then $S \subseteq \text{Cone}_A(S^A)$, and thus $\text{Cone}_A(S) = \text{Cone}_A(S^A)$.

Proof. Take z to be the trivial weight in Corollary 3.8.

Corollary 3.11. Let E, F be subsets of a root set S. Let $A = \mathbb{Q}$ or \mathbb{Z} . Then $\operatorname{Cone}_A(E) = \operatorname{Cone}_A(F)$ if and only if $E^A = F^A$.

Proof. Assume $\operatorname{Cone}_A(E) = \operatorname{Cone}_A(F)$. Suppose that there exists $\alpha \in E^A \setminus F^A$. Then $\alpha \in \operatorname{Cone}_A(E) = \operatorname{Cone}_A(F) = \operatorname{Cone}_A(F^A)$. Thus $\alpha = \sum_i c_i \alpha_i$, where $\alpha_i \in F^A$, and $c_i \in A_{\geq 0}$, at least two of which are nonzero (otherwise $\alpha \in F^A$). But since $\alpha_i \in F^A \subseteq \operatorname{Cone}_A(E)$, $\alpha \notin E^A$, a contradiction. Thus $E^A \subseteq F^A$, and similarly $F^A \subseteq E^A$.

Conversely, if
$$E^A = F^A$$
, then $\operatorname{Cone}_A(E) = \operatorname{Cone}_A(E^A) = \operatorname{Cone}_A(F^A) = \operatorname{Cone}_A(F)$.

Remark 3.12. Proofs of Corollaries 3.10 and 3.11 for the case $A = \mathbb{R}$ can be obtained by using the fact that if S is a root set, then $\operatorname{Cone}_{\mathbb{R}} S$ is a convex polyhedral cone, and $S^{\mathbb{R}}$ is equal to the set of elements of S which lie on the one-dimensional faces of $\operatorname{Cone}_{\mathbb{R}} S$ (see [Ful93, Section 1.2]). One can then use the density of \mathbb{Q} in \mathbb{R} to obtain alternative proofs of these two corollaries for the case $A = \mathbb{Q}$.

4. Iso-indecomposability in inversion sets

In this section we introduce the notion of iso-decomposability. The main results of this section, Theorem 4.11, and its corollaries, play a major role in this paper.

4.1. **Preliminaries and notation.** We keep the notation of Section 1.3. For the remainder of this paper we limit attention to root sets $S \subseteq \Phi$; our convention will be that any statement involving A holds for $A = \mathbb{Q}$, and if Φ is simply laced, it holds for $A = \mathbb{Z}$ as well.

Recall that W denotes the Weyl group and S' the set of simple reflections. The 0-Hecke algebra \mathcal{H} associated to (W, S') over a commutative ring R is the associative R-algebra generated by H_u , $u \in W$, and subject to the following relations: H_1 is the identity element, and if $u \in W$ and $s \in S'$, then $H_u H_s = H_{us}$ if $\ell(us) > \ell(u)$ and $H_u H_s = H_u$ if $\ell(us) < \ell(u)$.

Throughout the paper, we will assume that we have chosen $w \leq x \in W$ and a reduced expression $\mathbf{s} = (s_1, \ldots, s_l), s_i \in S'$, for x. Then x_i, z_i , and γ_i will have the following meaning. For $i \in \{1, \ldots, l\}$, define

• $x_i = s_1 \cdots \widehat{s_i} \cdots s_l = s_{\gamma_i} x \in W.$

- $z_i \in W$ by the equation $H_{z_i} = H_{s_1} \cdots \widehat{H}_{s_i} \cdots H_{s_l}$.
- $\gamma_i = s_1 \cdots s_{i-1}(\alpha_i) \in \Phi$, where α_i is the simple root corresponding to s_i .

The equality $x_i = s_{\gamma_i} x$ is well-known; it follows from the equation $s_{\gamma_i} = (s_1 \cdots s_{i-1}) s_i (s_1 \cdots s_{i-1})^{-1}$. It is known that the elements $\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_l$ enumerate $I(x^{-1}) = \{ \alpha \in \Phi^+ \mid x^{-1}(\alpha) \in \Phi^- \}$, the inversion set of x^{-1} (see [Hum90, Exercise 5.6.1]).

Let $w \in W$, $w \leq x$. For any root set $S \subseteq I(x^{-1})$, define the **Coxeter weight** $x: S \to W$ by $x(\gamma_i) = x_i$, and the **Demazure weight** $z: S \to W$ by $z(\gamma_i) = z_i$. Then $S_{x \geq w} = \{\gamma_i \in S \mid x_i \geq w\}$ and $S_{z \geq w} = \{\gamma_i \in S \mid z_i \geq w\}$ (see Definition 2.3).

The main result of Section 4 is that for $S = I(x^{-1})$, γ_i is iso-indecomposable in S if and only if $(s_1, \ldots, \hat{s_i}, \ldots, s_l)$ is reduced; in this case, $z_i = x_i$. Consequently, $(S^{\ddagger})_{z \ge w} = (S^{\ddagger})_{x \ge w}$.

Remark 4.1. Since $x_i = s_{\gamma_i} x$, the Coxeter weight $x : I(x^{-1}) \to W$, $\gamma_i \mapsto x_i$, is independent of the reduced expression **s** for x. On the other hand, the Demazure weight $z : I(x^{-1}) \to W$, $\gamma_i \mapsto z_i$, is not. (For example, let $x = \sigma_1 \sigma_2 \sigma_1$ in type A_2 . For $\mathbf{s} = (\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \sigma_1)$, one checks that $\gamma_2 = \alpha_1 + \alpha_2$ and $z_2 = \sigma_1$; for $\mathbf{s} = (\sigma_2, \sigma_1, \sigma_2)$, we again have $\gamma_2 = \alpha_1 + \alpha_2$, but now $z_2 = \sigma_2$.) The dependence of the Demazure weight on **s** can be removed by restricting the domain to the set of iso-indecomposable elements (since $z_i = x_i$ if γ_i is iso-indecomposable).

4.2. **Demazure products.** If $\mathbf{q} = (r_1, \ldots, r_k)$ is any (not necessarily reduced) sequence of simple reflections in S, define the Demazure product¹ $z_{\mathbf{q}} \in W$ by the equation $H_{z_{\mathbf{q}}} = H_{r_1} \cdots H_{r_k}$, and define $x_{\mathbf{q}} = r_1 \cdots r_k$. It is well known that if \mathbf{q} is reduced, then \mathbf{q} contains a subexpression which multiplies to u if and only if $x_{\mathbf{q}} \ge u$ (see Theorem 5.10 of [Hum90]). A generalization of this result in which \mathbf{q} is not required to be reduced is given by [KM04, Lemma 3.4(1)]:

Lemma 4.2. q contains a subexpression which multiplies to $u \Leftrightarrow z_{\mathbf{q}} \ge u$.

Corollary 4.3. There exists a subexpression of \mathbf{q} which is a reduced expression for $z_{\mathbf{q}}$.

Proof. By Lemma 4.2 with $u = z_{\mathbf{q}}$, \mathbf{q} contains a subexpression which multiplies to $z_{\mathbf{q}}$, and hence it contains a reduced subexpression which multiplies to $z_{\mathbf{q}}$.

Corollary 4.4. We have

- (i) $z_{\mathbf{q}} \ge x_{\mathbf{q}}$, with equality if \mathbf{q} is reduced.
- (ii) $z_{\mathbf{q}} \geq z_{\mathbf{p}}$ if \mathbf{p} is a subexpression of \mathbf{q} .

Proof. (i) If **q** is reduced, then $z_{\mathbf{q}} = x_{\mathbf{q}}$ by definition. The inequality is due to Lemma 4.2 with $u = x_{\mathbf{q}}$.

¹In [KM04] and [GK22], the Demazure product $z_{\mathbf{q}}$ is instead denoted by $\delta(\mathbf{q})$.

(ii) By Corollary 4.3, there exists a subexpression \mathbf{p}' of \mathbf{p} which is a reduced expression for $z_{\mathbf{p}}$. By (i), $x_{\mathbf{p}'} = z_{\mathbf{p}}$. Since \mathbf{p}' is a subexpression of \mathbf{p} , it is a subexpression of \mathbf{q} , so by Lemma 4.2, $z_{\mathbf{q}} \ge x_{\mathbf{p}'}$. Hence $z_{\mathbf{q}} \ge z_{\mathbf{p}}$, as required.

Remark 4.5. In Corollary 4.4(i), equality can occur even if **q** is not reduced. For example, if σ_1 and σ_2 denote the transpositions (1, 2) and (2, 3) respectively in type A_2 , then for $\mathbf{q} = (\sigma_1, \sigma_1, \sigma_2, \sigma_1, \sigma_2), z_{\mathbf{q}} = x_{\mathbf{q}} = \sigma_1 \sigma_2 \sigma_1$, although **q** is not reduced.

Corollary 4.6. $z_i \ge x_i$ for $i \in \{1, \ldots, l\}$, with equality if $(s_1, \ldots, \hat{s_i}, \ldots, s_l)$ is reduced.

Proof. This is a special case of Corollary 4.4(i).

4.3. Iso-indecomposability in $I(x^{-1})$.

Lemma 4.7. Let $\alpha, \beta, \gamma \in \Phi^+$. If $c\alpha = \beta + \gamma$ and $\|\beta\| = \|\gamma\|$, then $c = \langle \beta, \alpha^{\vee} \rangle = \langle \gamma, \alpha^{\vee} \rangle > 0$.

Proof. Since $\alpha, \beta, \gamma > 0$, we must have c > 0. By applying $\langle \cdot, \alpha^{\vee} \rangle$ to both sides of the equation $c\alpha = \beta + \gamma$, we find that $c = (1/2)\langle \beta, \alpha^{\vee} \rangle + (1/2)\langle \gamma, \alpha^{\vee} \rangle$. Since $\|\beta\| = \|\gamma\|$,

$$(\beta, c\alpha) = (\beta, \beta + \gamma) = \|\beta\|^2 + (\beta, \gamma) = \|\gamma\|^2 + (\beta, \gamma) = (\gamma, \beta + \gamma) = (\gamma, c\alpha),$$

implying $\langle \beta, \alpha^{\vee} \rangle = \langle \gamma, \alpha^{\vee} \rangle$, as desired.

As a consequence, we obtain the following well-known fact.

Lemma 4.8. Let $\alpha, \beta, \gamma \in \Phi^+$, where Φ is simply laced. If $c\alpha = \beta + \gamma$ and $\beta \neq \alpha$, then c = 1.

Proof. This follows from Lemma 4.7.

Proposition 4.9. If $S \subseteq \Phi^+$ is a root set and Φ is simply laced, then $S^{\mathbb{Z}} \subseteq S^{\ddagger}$.

Proof. Suppose α is iso-decomposable in S. Then $c\alpha = \beta + \gamma$, for some $\beta, \gamma \in S$. By Lemma 4.8, c = 1. Thus α is integrally decomposable in S.

Lemma 4.10. *Let* $i, j, k \in [l]$ *.*

- (i) $\gamma_i \neq \gamma_j$ if $i \neq j$.
- (ii) If j < i then $s_j \cdots s_1(\gamma_i) > 0$; otherwise $s_j \cdots s_1(\gamma_i) < 0$.
- (iii) If $c\gamma_i = \gamma_j + \gamma_k$, j < k, then j < i < k.

Proof. (i), (ii) See [Hum90, Section 1.7].

(iii) By Lemma 4.7, c > 0. Assume that i < j and i < k, and let $y = s_i \cdots s_1$. Then $cy\gamma_i = y\gamma_j + y\gamma_k$. By (ii), $cy\gamma_i < 0$ and $y\gamma_j + y\gamma_k > 0$, contradiction. A similar argument eliminates the possibility that i > j and i > k. (This proof also appears in the proof of [Ste01, Theorem 5.3].)

The following theorem plays a central role in this paper: it is required for all subsequent results of this section and the next. The theorem also illustrates how isoindecomposability arises naturally in the study of Coxeter groups and inversion sets. Indeed, the problem of finding some property of γ_i which is equivalent to reducedness of $s_1 \cdots \hat{s_i} \cdots s_l$ initially led us to this theorem and the definition of iso-indecomposability.

Theorem 4.11. For $i \in [l]$, the following are equivalent:

- (i) $s_1 \cdots \widehat{s_i} \cdots s_l$ is not reduced.
- (ii) There exist j < i < k such that $\alpha_j = s_{j+1} \cdots \widehat{s_i} \cdots s_{k-1}(\alpha_k)$.
- (iii) There exist j < k and $c \in \mathbb{Q}$ such that $c\gamma_i = \gamma_j + \gamma_k$ and $\|\gamma_j\| = \|\gamma_k\|$.
- (iv) γ_i is iso-decomposable in $I(x^{-1})$.

Moreover, in case one (and thus all) of these statements hold, it must be true that j < i < k; and that j, k satisfy (ii) if and only if they satisfy (iii); and that $c = \langle \gamma_k, \gamma_i^{\vee} \rangle > 0$.

Proof. (i) \Leftrightarrow (ii) See [Hum90, Theorem 1.7]; (iii) \Leftrightarrow (iv) by definition.

Now suppose j < i < k. Let $\beta = s_{i+1} \cdots s_{k-1}(\alpha_k)$. Then $\langle \gamma_k, \gamma_i^{\vee} \rangle = \langle s_1 \cdots s_i \beta, -s_1 \cdots s_i \alpha_i^{\vee} \rangle = \langle -\beta, \alpha_i^{\vee} \rangle$. Thus

$$\langle \gamma_k, \gamma_i^{\vee} \rangle \gamma_i = \langle -\beta, \alpha_i^{\vee} \rangle \gamma_i$$

= $s_1 \cdots s_{i-1} (\langle -\beta, \alpha_i^{\vee} \rangle \alpha_i)$
= $s_1 \cdots s_{i-1} (-\beta + s_i \beta) = -s_1 \cdots \widehat{s}_i \cdots s_{k-1} (\alpha_k) + \gamma_k.$ (4.1)

(ii) \Rightarrow (iii) Let j < i < k be as in (ii). Substituting α_j for $s_{j+1} \cdots \widehat{s_i} \cdots s_{k-1}(\alpha_k)$ in (4.1) produces $\langle \gamma_k, \gamma_i^{\vee} \rangle \gamma_i = \gamma_j + \gamma_k$.

(iii) \Rightarrow (ii) Lemma 4.10(iii) forces j < i < k. By Lemma 4.7, $c = \langle \gamma_k, \gamma_i^{\vee} \rangle$, so $\langle \gamma_k, \gamma_i^{\vee} \rangle \gamma_i = \gamma_j + \gamma_k$. Substituting this into (4.1), we obtain $\gamma_j = -s_1 \cdots \hat{s_i} \cdots s_{k-1}(\alpha_k)$. On the other hand, by definition, $\gamma_j = s_1 \cdots s_{j-1}(\alpha_j)$. Equating these two expressions for γ_j and simplifying yields $s_{j+1} \cdots \hat{s_i} \cdots s_{k-1}(\alpha_k) = \alpha_j$, as required. \Box

Corollary 4.12. Let $S = I(x^{-1})$. If $\gamma_i \in S^{\ddagger}$, then $z_i = x_i$.

Proof. If $\gamma_i \in S^{\ddagger}$, then $(s_1, \ldots, \hat{s_i}, \ldots, s_l)$ is reduced by Theorem 4.11, and thus $z_i = x_i$ by Corollary 4.6.

Corollary 4.13. Let
$$S = I(x^{-1})$$
. Then $(S^{\ddagger})_{z \ge w} = (S^{\ddagger})_{x \ge w}$ and $(S^A)_{z \ge w} = (S^A)_{x \ge w}$.

Proof. The first equation is due to Corollary 4.12. Note that the first equation implies that for any $E \subseteq S^{\ddagger}$, we have $E_{z \geq w} = E_{x \geq w}$. The second equation now follows by observing that $S^{\mathbb{Q}} \subseteq S^{\ddagger}$, and if Φ is simply laced, then $S^{\mathbb{Z}} \subseteq S^{\ddagger}$ by Proposition 4.9. \Box

Remark 4.14. Corollary 4.13 proves the assertions of [GK22, Remark 5.9].

5. Increasing and iso-indecomposability

In this section we show that for $S = I(x^{-1})$ we have that $S^{\uparrow A} \subseteq S^{\ddagger}$, where increasing A-decompositions are relative to the Demazure weight. Using this and results of previous sections, we prove our main technical result: $\text{Cone}_A(S_{z>w}) = \text{Cone}_A(S_{x>w})$.

Lemma 5.1. Let $S = I(x^{-1})$, and let $\gamma \in S$. If there exists an iso-decomposition of γ in S, then there exists an increasing iso-decomposition of γ in S.

Proof. We have that $\gamma = \gamma_i$ for some *i*. Assume that γ_i is iso-decomposable. By Theorem 4.11, $s_1 \cdots \hat{s_i} \cdots s_l$ is not reduced. Choose k > i minimal such that $\ell(s_1 \cdots \hat{s_i} \cdots s_k) < \ell(s_1 \cdots \hat{s_i} \cdots s_{k-1})$, and then j < i maximal such that $\ell(s_j \cdots \hat{s_i} \cdots s_k) < \ell(s_{j+1} \cdots \hat{s_i} \cdots s_k)$. It is shown in the proof of [Hum90, Theorem 1.7] that j, k satisfy Theorem 4.11(ii); thus they satisfy Theorem 4.11(iii), i.e., $c\gamma_i = \gamma_j + \gamma_k$ with $\|\gamma_j\| = \|\gamma_k\|$. We will show that $z_j, z_k \ge z_i$, thus completing the proof.

By choice of $k, s_1 \cdots \hat{s_i} \cdots s_{k-1}$ is reduced but $s_1 \cdots \hat{s_i} \cdots s_k$ is not. Thus

$$H_{s_1}\cdots H_{s_i}\cdots H_{s_{k-1}} = H_{s_1\cdots\widehat{s}_i\cdots s_{k-1}} = H_{s_1\cdots\widehat{s}_i\cdots s_{k-1}}H_{s_k} = H_{s_1}\cdots H_{s_i}\cdots H_{s_k}$$

If we multiply on the right by $H_{s_{k+1}} \cdots H_{s_l}$, we obtain $H_{s_1} \cdots \widehat{H}_{s_i} \cdots \widehat{H}_{s_k} \cdots H_{s_l} = H_{s_1} \cdots \widehat{H}_{s_i} \cdots H_{s_l}$. Letting $\mathbf{r} = (s_1, \ldots, \widehat{s_i}, \ldots, \widehat{s_k}, \ldots, s_l)$, we have $z_{\mathbf{r}} = z_i$. Since \mathbf{r} is a subexpression of $(s_1, \ldots, \widehat{s_k}, \ldots, s_l)$, Corollary 4.4(ii) implies $z_k \ge z_{\mathbf{r}}$. Therefore $z_k \ge z_i$.

Using the fact that $s_{j+1} \cdots \hat{s}_i \cdots s_k$ is reduced but $s_j \cdots \hat{s}_i \cdots s_k$ is not, a similar argument yields $z_j \geq z_i$.

Lemma 5.2. Let $S = I(x^{-1})$, and let $\gamma \in S_{z \geq w}$. If there exists an iso-decomposition of γ in S, then there exists an iso-decomposition of γ in $S_{z \geq w}$.

Proof. This follows from Lemma 5.1 and the fact that increasing linear combinations preserve $S_{z>w}$ (see Remark 3.9).

Proposition 5.3. Let $S = I(x^{-1})$. Then $S^{\uparrow A} \subseteq S^{\ddagger}$.

Proof. Suppose $\gamma_i \notin S^{\ddagger}$. By Lemma 5.1, there exist j, k such that $c\gamma_i = \gamma_j + \gamma_k$ is increasing and $c \in \mathbb{Q}$. If Φ is simply laced, then c = 1, by Lemma 4.7. Thus $\gamma_i \notin S^{\uparrow A}$.

Corollary 5.4. Let $S = I(x^{-1})$. Then $(S_{z \ge w})^{\ddagger} = (S^{\ddagger})_{z \ge w}$.

Proof. By definition, $(S^{\ddagger})_{z \ge w} = S^{\ddagger} \cap S_{z \ge w}$. The inclusion $(S_{z \ge w})^{\ddagger} \supseteq (S^{\ddagger})_{z \ge w}$ holds because any element of $S_{z \ge w}$ that is iso-indecomposable in S is iso-indecomposable in the smaller set $S_{z \ge w}$. The reverse inclusion is the contrapositive of Lemma 5.2.

Corollary 5.5. Let $S = I(x^{-1})$. Then $\operatorname{Cone}_A(S_{z \ge w}) = \operatorname{Cone}_A(S_{x \ge w})$, or equivalently, $(S_{z \ge w})^A = (S_{x \ge w})^A$.

Proof. Since $x_i \leq z_i$ for all i, $\operatorname{Cone}_A(S_{x\geq w}) \subseteq \operatorname{Cone}_A(S_{z\geq w})$. The other inclusion follows from $S_{z\geq w} \subseteq \operatorname{Cone}_A((S^{\uparrow A})_{z\geq w}) \subseteq \operatorname{Cone}_A((S^{\ddagger})_{z\geq w}) = \operatorname{Cone}_A((S^{\ddagger})_{x\geq w}) \subseteq \operatorname{Cone}_A(S_{x\geq w})$, where the first and second inclusions are due to Propositions 3.8 and 5.3, and the equality is due to Corollary 4.13. The equivalence of the second equality of this corollary is due to Corollary 3.11.

Remark 5.6. By Lemma 2.4(iii), Corollary 5.5 is a stronger statement than $(S^A)_{z \ge w} = (S^A)_{x \ge w}$, which was proved in Corollary 4.13.

6. Equivalent indecomposabilities

The main theorem of this section is the following.

Theorem 6.1. Let Φ be of classical type or of type G_2 , and let $S = I(x^{-1})$. Let $\alpha \in S$. Then α is rationally indecomposable $\Leftrightarrow \alpha$ is iso-indecomposable. If Φ is simply laced, these conditions are equivalent to the condition that α is integrally indecomposable.

A more precise statement, Proposition 6.4, is given in Section 6.1. The special case of $S = \Phi^+$ is studied in Section 6.2.

The equivalence of indecomposabilities given by Theorem 6.1, which we view as of independent interest, has two main applications in this paper. First, it is used in this section to prove that in classical types and type G_2 , for $S = I(x^{-1})$, we have $(S^A)_{z \ge w} = (S_{z \ge w})^A$ and $(S^A)_{x \ge w} = (S_{x \ge w})^A$. In Section 9, we show that the first of these equalities implies that in classical types and type G_2 , $\Phi_{\text{tan}}^{\text{KL}} \cap S^A = (\Phi_{\text{tan}}^{\text{KL}})^A$. Second, it allows us to prove Corollary 7.4: in types A and D, x is fully commutative if and only if all elements of $I(x^{-1})$ are integrally indecomposable. This leads, in Section 10, to smoothness criteria for fully commutative x in types A and D.

6.1. Indecomposability in closed subsets of Φ^+ . It is convenient to introduce the following characterization of inversion sets, which is a slight variation of the characterization given by Papi [Pap94]. We shall say that a root set $S \subseteq \Phi^+$ is *closed* if (i) $\alpha, \beta \in S$ and $r\alpha + s\beta \in \Phi$ for positive real numbers r and s imply $r\alpha + s\beta \in S$, and (ii) $\alpha, \beta \in \Phi^+$ and $\alpha + \beta \in S$ imply $\alpha \in S$ or $\beta \in S$. The following lemma is a simple consequence of Papi's characterization.

Lemma 6.2. Let $S \subseteq \Phi^+$. Then S is closed $\Leftrightarrow S = I(x^{-1})$ for some $x \in W$.

Proof. Consider the condition (i'): $\alpha, \beta \in S$ and $\alpha + s\beta \in \Phi$ s implies $\alpha + \beta \in S$. Papi proved that S satisfies (i') and (ii) if and only if S is of the form $I(x^{-1})$.

Suppose S is closed. Since S satisfies (i) and (ii), it satisfies (i') and (ii), so $S = I(x^{-1})$ for some $x \in W$. Conversely, suppose $S = I(x^{-1})$. The set S satisfies (ii) by Papi's result. If $\alpha, \beta \in S$ and $r\alpha + s\beta \in \Phi$ for positive real numbers r and s, then $x^{-1}\alpha$ and $x^{-1}\beta$ are negative roots, so the root $x^{-1}(r\alpha + s\beta)$ must be negative as well

(because when written as a sum of simple roots, all coefficients of $x^{-1}(r\alpha + s\beta)$ are negative). Hence $r\alpha + s\beta \in S$, so S satisfies (i). Hence S is closed.

Theorem 6.1 is an immediate consequence of Proposition 6.4 below. We divide the proof into smaller steps by introducing a new variation of indecomposability.

Definition 6.3. Let S be a root set. A rational decomposition in S of the form $\alpha = c_1\alpha_1 + c_2\alpha_2$ is called a **bi-decomposition** of α . The element α is called **bi-decomposable** if α has a bi-decomposition and **bi-indecomposable** otherwise.

Proposition 6.4. Let S be a closed subset of Φ^+ and let $\alpha \in S$. Consider the following conditions:

- (i) α is iso-decomposable.
- (ii) α is bi-decomposable.
- (iii) α is rationally decomposable.
- (iv) α is integrally decomposable.

We have $(i) \Leftrightarrow (ii) \Rightarrow (iii) \leftarrow (iv)$. If Φ is of classical type or of type G_2 , then $(iii) \Rightarrow (ii)$ and thus (i) - (iii) are equivalent. If Φ is simply laced, then $(i) \Rightarrow (iv)$. Thus in types A and D, (i) - (iv) are equivalent.

Proof. (i) \Rightarrow (ii) \Rightarrow (iii) \Leftarrow (iv) is clear from the definitions; (i) \Rightarrow (iv) if Φ is simply laced, by Proposition 4.9.

(ii) \Rightarrow (i) We first provide several facts about rank 2 root systems, referring the reader to [Ser01, Ch. 5, §3 and §7] for additional background and details. There are four rank 2 root systems: $A_1 \times A_1$, A_2 , B_2 , and G_2 . Every root λ of a rank 2 root system has two "nearest neighbors", one to either side, which we denote by λ' and λ'' . One checks that $|\lambda'| = |\lambda''|$, and in types A_2 , B_2 , and G_2 , $\lambda = c\lambda' + c\lambda''$, where c = 1 or c = 1/2. This gives an iso-decomposition of λ in Φ .

Since α is bi-decomposable, we can write

$$\alpha = r\beta + t\gamma \tag{6.1}$$

where r, t are positive rational numbers, $\beta, \gamma \in S$, and α, β, γ are distinct. Let $X = \{\alpha, \beta, \gamma\}$. Since the three elements of X are distinct, they do not lie on the same line through 0. By (6.1), they lie on the same plane through 0. Thus the \mathbb{R} span of X, which we denote by V_X , is two dimensional. By [Bou02, Ch. VI, §1, no. 1, Prop. 4(ii)], $\Phi_X := \Phi \cap V_X$ is a root system. Its rank is two, and thus it must be of type $A_1 \times A_1$, A_2, B_2 , or G_2 . Since it contains X, and X contains three elements none of which is the negative of any other, we can rule out type $A_1 \times A_1$.

Let $C = \text{Cone}_{\mathbb{R}}\{\beta, \gamma\} = \{x\beta + y\gamma : x, y \in \mathbb{R}, x, y \ge 0\}$, the convex polyhedral cone generated by $\{\beta, \gamma\}$. Geometrically, C is the locus of points in V_X lying on or between the ray through β and the ray through γ . By (6.1), α is in the interior of C. Since $\beta, \gamma \in \Phi_X$, it follows that α', α'' , the nearest neighbors to α in Φ_X , must also lie in C. Since $\beta, \gamma \in S$ and $\alpha', \alpha'' \in \Phi$, condition (i) of S being closed implies $\alpha', \alpha'' \in S$. As shown above, $\alpha = c\alpha' + c\alpha''$, where c = 1 or c = 1/2. Hence α is iso-decomposable in S.

(iii) \Rightarrow (ii) if Φ is of classical type. We proceed by contradiction. Suppose that α is rationally decomposable but not bi-decomposable. Then we can write $\alpha = r_1\alpha_1 + \cdots + r_n\alpha_n$, where $n \geq 3$, r_i positive rational numbers, $\alpha_i \in \Phi^+$ distinct, and $\alpha_i \neq \alpha$, but we cannot express α as such a linear combination with n = 2. Clearing denominators, we obtain

$$d\alpha = m_1 \alpha_1 + \dots + m_n \alpha_n, \tag{6.2}$$

where d, m_1, \ldots, m_n are positive integers. Among such expressions, consider those with d minimal; among these, consider those with $m_1 + \cdots + m_n$ minimal; among these, choose one with $m_1 |\alpha_1|^2 + \cdots + m_n |\alpha_n|^2$ minimal. Assume that $d, n, m_1, \ldots, m_n, \alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n$ are so chosen. We can rewrite (6.2) as

$$\alpha + \dots + \alpha = (\alpha_1 + \dots + \alpha_1) + \dots + (\alpha_n + \dots + \alpha_n), \tag{6.3}$$

where α occurs d times and each α_i occurs m_i times. The total number of summands on the right hand side is $m_1 + \cdots + m_n$.

We make several preliminary observations about (6.3): for all i, j such that $i \neq j$,

- (a) $\alpha_i + \alpha_j$ is not an integer multiple of α .
- (b) $\alpha_i + \alpha_j \notin \Phi^+$.
- (c) $(\alpha_i, \alpha_j) \geq 0.$
- (d) $(\alpha, \alpha_i) > 0.$

To prove (a), note that if $\alpha_i + \alpha_j = e\alpha$ for some positive integer e, then α is bidecomposable in S, a contradiction. To prove (b), suppose that $\alpha_i + \alpha_j \in \Phi^+$. Then, since S is closed, $\alpha_i + \alpha_j \in S$. Thus two summands α_i, α_j on the right hand side of (6.3) can be replaced by the single summand $\alpha_i + \alpha_j$. This replacement decreases $m_1 + \cdots + m_n$ by 1, contradicting the minimality of this sum. Now (c) follows immediately from (b) and (d) follows from (c), since $(\alpha, \alpha_i) = (1/d) \sum m_j(\alpha_j, \alpha_i) > 0$.

Let us recall the positive roots of classical type:

$$A_{n-1} \quad \Phi^+ = \{\epsilon_p - \epsilon_q : 1 \le p < q \le n\}$$

$$B_n \quad \Phi^+ = \{\epsilon_p \pm \epsilon_q : 1 \le p < q \le n\} \cup \{\epsilon_p : 1 \le p \le n\}$$

$$C_n \quad \Phi^+ = \{\epsilon_p \pm \epsilon_q : 1 \le p < q \le n\} \cup \{2\epsilon_p : 1 \le p \le n\}$$

$$D_n \quad \Phi^+ = \{\epsilon_p \pm \epsilon_q : 1 \le p < q \le n\}$$

Based on these representations, we can make an additional observation about (6.3):

(e) Suppose that some α_i has a component of ϵ_s but α does not. Then $\alpha_i = \epsilon_r \pm \epsilon_s$ for some r < s, and there exists j such that $\alpha_j = \epsilon_r \mp \epsilon_s$. Moreover, α has a component of ϵ_r with positive coefficient.

Indeed, since α_i has a component of ϵ_s but α does not, some α_j must have a component of ϵ_s but with coefficient of opposite sign. This results in $(\alpha_i, \alpha_j) < 0$, unless $\alpha_i = \epsilon_r \pm \epsilon_s$ and $\alpha_j = \epsilon_r \mp \epsilon_s$ for some r < s. The final claim of (e) now follows from (d), which tells us that $(\alpha, \alpha_i) > 0$ and $(\alpha, \alpha_j) > 0$.

If $\alpha = \epsilon_p - \epsilon_q$ (in any type), then all terms on the right hand side of (6.3) must be of the form $\epsilon_a - \epsilon_b$ (since the sum of the coefficients of the ϵ_i is 0). There must be one root α_i on the right hand side of (6.3) of the form $\epsilon_r - \epsilon_q$, with $r \neq p$, since the coefficient of ϵ_q is negative. Then since the coefficient of ϵ_r in the sum is 0, there must be a root α_j of the form $\epsilon_a - \epsilon_r$, but then $(\alpha_i, \alpha_j) = -1$, which is impossible by (c). Therefore α is not of the form $\epsilon_p - \epsilon_q$. This completes the proof for type A_{n-1} .

If $\alpha = \epsilon_p$ in type B_n or $\alpha = 2\epsilon_p$ in type C_n , then some α_i must be of the form $\epsilon_p \pm \epsilon_s$, $s \neq p$. By (e), p < s and some α_j must be of the form $\epsilon_p \mp \epsilon_s$. But this contradicts (a). Therefore α is not of the form ϵ_p in type B_n or $2\epsilon_p$ in type C_n .

Hence, $\alpha = \epsilon_p + \epsilon_q$ in type B_n , C_n , or D_n . Suppose that some $\alpha_i = \epsilon_p - \epsilon_q$. Then, since α has a component of ϵ_q with positive coefficient, some α_j must as well. But then $(\alpha_i, \alpha_j) < 0$, contradicting (c). We conclude that no α_i equals $\epsilon_p - \epsilon_q$.

Consider types B_n and C_n . Some α_i must have a component of ϵ_s which α does not. (In type C_n , this is true because the only alternative is $\alpha_i = 2\epsilon_p$, $\alpha_j = 2\epsilon_q$ for some i, j, contradicting (a). In type B_n , a similar argument applies.) Thus, by (e), either α_i is of the form $\epsilon_p \pm \epsilon_s$ and there exists j such that α_j is of the form $\epsilon_p \mp \epsilon_s$, or α_i is of the form $\epsilon_q \pm \epsilon_s$ and there exists j such that α_j is of the form $\epsilon_q \mp \epsilon_s$. Assume the former; the proof for the latter is similar. In type B_n , since S is closed, $\epsilon_p = (1/2)\alpha_i + (1/2)\alpha_j \in S$. Thus α_i, α_j , two summands of the right hand side of (6.3), can be replaced by ϵ_p, ϵ_p . With this replacement, $m_1 |\alpha_1|^2 + \cdots + m_n |\alpha_n|^2$ decreases by 2, contradicting the minimality of this quantity. In type C_n , $2\epsilon_p = \alpha_i + \alpha_j \in S$. Now α_i, α_j can be replaced by the single root $2\epsilon_p$. This replacement decreases $m_1 + \cdots + m_n$ by 1, contradicting the minimality of this sum. This completes the proof for types B_n and C_n .

This leaves only the possibility that $\alpha = \epsilon_p + \epsilon_q$ in type D_n . We have seen that no α_i equals $\epsilon_p - \epsilon_q$. By (e), all of the α_i are of the form $\epsilon_p \pm \epsilon_a$ and $\epsilon_q \pm \epsilon_b$, where a, b are not equal to either p or q. Note that we cannot have both $\epsilon_p + \epsilon_a$ and $\epsilon_q - \epsilon_a$ on the right hand side, since the inner product would be -1. Similarly, we cannot have both $\epsilon_p - \epsilon_a$ and $\epsilon_q + \epsilon_a$ on the right hand side. All coefficients except those of ϵ_p and ϵ_q are 0, so we conclude that on the right hand side, $\epsilon_p + \epsilon_a$ occurs iff $\epsilon_p - \epsilon_a$ occurs, and $\epsilon_q + \epsilon_b$ occurs iff $\epsilon_q - \epsilon_b$ occurs. By minimality of the expression (6.3), we conclude that this expression must have the form

$$2(\epsilon_p + \epsilon_q) = (\epsilon_p + \epsilon_a) + (\epsilon_p - \epsilon_a) + (\epsilon_q + \epsilon_b) + (\epsilon_q - \epsilon_b)$$
(6.4)

for a, b not equal to p or q, and $a \neq b$. Now, $\epsilon_p + \epsilon_a \in S$, and

$$\epsilon_p + \epsilon_a = (\epsilon_p - \epsilon_q) + (\epsilon_a + \epsilon_q).$$

Since S is closed, at least one of the roots $\epsilon_p - \epsilon_q$ or $\epsilon_a + \epsilon_q$ must be in S. If $\epsilon_p - \epsilon_q \in S$, then $\epsilon_p - \epsilon_b$ is in S as it is the sum $(\epsilon_p - \epsilon_q) + (\epsilon_q - \epsilon_b)$, where both summands are in S; but then

$$\alpha = \epsilon_p + \epsilon_q = (\epsilon_p - \epsilon_b) + (\epsilon_q + \epsilon_b),$$

which contradicts the assumption that α is not bi-decomposable. On the other hand, if $\epsilon_a + \epsilon_q \in S$, then

$$\alpha = \epsilon_p + \epsilon_q = (\epsilon_p - \epsilon_a) + (\epsilon_a + \epsilon_q),$$

again contradicting the assumption that α is not bi-decomposable.

(iii) \Rightarrow (ii) if Φ is of type G_2 . The root system G_2 was discussed above in the proof of (ii) \Rightarrow (i). Its six positive roots lie in a half-plane. Suppose that $\alpha \in S$ is rationally decomposable. Then $\alpha = r_1\alpha_1 + \cdots + r_t\alpha_t$ for some $t \ge 2$, $\alpha_i \in S$ distinct, $\alpha_i \neq \alpha$, and $r_i \in \mathbb{Q}_{>0}$. Let β and γ be the leftmost and rightmost roots of $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_t$. Then β and γ lie on the two edges of $\operatorname{Cone}_{\mathbb{R}}\{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_t\}$. Thus

$$\alpha \in \operatorname{Cone}_{\mathbb{Q}}\{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_t\} = \operatorname{Cone}_{\mathbb{Q}}\{\beta, \gamma\}$$

implying α is bi-decomposable.

The proof of the implication (iii) \Rightarrow (ii) in classical types is clearly the most difficult part of this proof. The question of whether this implication holds in types E_n and F_4 is open.

Remark 6.5. If Φ is not simply laced, then rational decomposability is not equivalent to integral decomposability. For example, in type B_2 , one can check that the subset $S = \{\epsilon_1 - \epsilon_2, \epsilon_1, \epsilon_1 + \epsilon_2\} \subseteq \Phi^+$ is closed. In S, the roots $\epsilon_1 - \epsilon_2$ and $\epsilon_1 + \epsilon_2$ are rationally indecomposable, but ϵ_1 is not. However, all three are integrally indecomposable.

Proposition 6.6. If $S = I(x^{-1})$ and Φ is of classical type or of type G_2 , then $(S_{z\geq w})^A = (S_{z\geq w})^{\ddagger}$.

Proof. The inclusion \subseteq holds because any A-indecomposable element is iso-indecomposable. We prove the reverse inclusion. Suppose $\gamma \in (S_{z \ge w})^{\ddagger}$. If γ is A-decomposable in $S_{z \ge w}$, then γ is A-decomposable in S, so by Theorem 6.1, γ is iso-decomposable in S. By Lemma 5.2, γ is iso-decomposable in $S_{z \ge w}$, a contradiction. Hence $\gamma \in (S_{z \ge w})^A$. \Box

Suppose that $S = I(x^{-1})$. One sees easily (see Lemma 2.4(i)) that $(S^A)_{z \ge w} \subseteq (S_{z \ge w})^A$ and $(S^A)_{x \ge w} \subseteq (S_{x \ge w})^A$. The following corollary shows that in classical types and type G_2 , all four of these sets are equal.

Corollary 6.7. If $S = I(x^{-1})$ and Φ is of classical type or of type G_2 , then $(S^A)_{x \ge w} = (S_{x \ge w})^A = (S^A)_{z \ge w} = (S_{z \ge w})^A$.

Proof. By Corollary 5.5 and Remark 5.6, $(S^A)_{x \ge w} = (S^A)_{z \ge w}$ and $(S_{x \ge w})^A = (S_{z \ge w})^A$. The proof is completed by observing that

$$(S^A)_{z \ge w} = (S^{\ddagger})_{z \ge w} = (S_{z \ge w})^{\ddagger} = (S_{z \ge w})^A,$$

where the first equality is due to Theorem 6.1, the second to Corollary 5.4, and the third to Proposition 6.6. $\hfill \Box$

Remark 6.8. This corollary implies that if x is fixed and one wants to calculate $(S_{z\geq w})^A$ for multiple z, it is not necessary to check indecomposability separately for each z. Rather, one can compute the set S^A of A-indecomposable elements in S, and then intersect with $S_{z\geq w}$.

Figure 2 summarizes the relationships we have found among the five main types of indecomposability in $I(x^{-1})$. For general root sets, rational indecomposability implies the other four types (see Figure 1). The other four implications of Figure 2 are proved in Propositions 4.9, 5.3, and 6.4.



FIGURE 2. Relationships among five types of indecomposability. Arrows represent inclusions. (See also Figure 1 on page 8.)

6.2. Indecomposability in Φ^+ . When $S = \Phi^+$, several types of indecomposability are easily proved to be equivalent in all types. This is due to the following properties of the base Δ of Φ^+ :

- (a) Δ is linearly independent.
- (b) Each root of Φ^+ is a non-negative integer linear combination of elements of Δ .

(c) Any root of Φ^+ not in Δ can be written as a sum of two positive roots.

Proposition 6.9. Let $S = \Phi^+$ and $\alpha \in S$. The following conditions are equivalent:

- (i) α is iso-decomposable.
- (ii) α is bi-decomposable.
- (iii) $\alpha \notin \Delta$.
- (iv) α is integrally decomposable.
- (v) α is rationally decomposable.

Proof. (iii) \Rightarrow (iv) \Rightarrow (v) \Leftarrow (i) are clear from the definitions, (ii) \Leftarrow (iii) follows from (c), and (i) \Leftarrow (ii) holds by Proposition 6.4.

(iii) \leftarrow (v) is an immediate consequence of (a) and (b). Indeed, let $\alpha \in \Delta$. If β is an element of $\Phi^+ \setminus \{\alpha\}$, then a (nonnegative) linear combination for β in the elements of Δ must contain at least one term other than α . Thus the same is true if β is a nontrivial nonnegative linear combination of elements of $\Phi^+ \setminus \{\alpha\}$. Therefore a nonnegative linear combination of elements of $\Phi^+ \setminus \{\alpha\}$ cannot equal α , i.e., α is rationally indecomposable. \Box

Corollary 6.10. $(x\Phi^{-})^{\ddagger} = x\Delta^{-} = (x\Phi^{-})^{\mathbb{Z}} = (x\Phi^{-})^{\mathbb{Q}}.$

Proof. This follows from Proposition 6.9, as x is a length-preserving linear automorphism of Φ .

7. When all elements are indecomposable

In this section we study root sets $S \subseteq \Phi^+$. We are interested in examining conditions under which all elements of S are rationally, integrally, or iso-indecomposable. When this occurs, results in other sections concerning such indecomposable elements of S will of course apply to all elements of S.

We say that S is **coplanar** if there exists $v \in \mathfrak{t}$ such that $\alpha(v) = -1$ for all $\alpha \in S$. If $I(x^{-1})$ is coplanar, then x is said to be a **cominuscule** Weyl group element. Cominuscule Weyl group elements were first studied by Peterson.

The Weyl group element x is said to be **fully commutative** if there does not exist a reduced expression for x which contains a subword of the form $s_i s_j s_i \cdots$ of length $m \ge 3$, where m is the order of $s_i s_j$. In [BJS93], Billey, Jockusch, and Stanley showed that in type A, fully commutative Weyl group elements can alternatively be characterized as 321-avoiding permutations, and that their Schubert polynomials are flag skew Schur functions. Full commutativity was studied extensively by Fan and Stembridge in [Fan95], [Fan97], [FS97], [Ste96], [Ste97].

Theorem 7.1. If x is a cominuscule Weyl group element, then x is fully commutative.

Proof. This result is due to Stembridge (see [Ste01, Proposition 2.1]).

Theorem 7.2. For $S \subseteq \Phi^+$, consider the following statements:

- (i) S is coplanar.
- (ii) $S^{\mathbb{Z}} = S$.
- (iii) S does not contain three roots of the form $\alpha, \beta, \alpha + \beta$.
- (iv) $S^{\mathbb{Q}} = S$.
- (v) $S^{\ddagger} = S$.
- (vi) x is fully commutative.

We have $(i) \Rightarrow (ii) \Rightarrow (iii)$ and $(iv) \Rightarrow (ii)$. If Φ is simply laced, then $(iii) \Leftrightarrow (v)$. If Φ is simply laced and $S = I(x^{-1})$, then $(i) \Rightarrow (iv)$ and $(iii) \Leftrightarrow (vi)$. (See Figure 3.)



FIGURE 3. To accompany Theorem 7.2. Arrows represent implications. Labelings of an arrow indicate conditions under which the implication or equivalence holds.

Proof. (i) \Rightarrow (ii) is proved in the same manner as [GK22, Proposition 6.4], but with $I(x^{-1})$ replaced by S; (ii) \Rightarrow (iii) is clear from definitions; (iv) \Rightarrow (ii) since $S^{\mathbb{Q}} \subseteq S^{\mathbb{Z}}$; (iii) \Leftrightarrow (v) if Φ is simply laced follows from Lemma 4.8; (iii) \Leftrightarrow (vi) if Φ is simply laced and $S = I(x^{-1})$ by [FS97, Theorem 2.4].

(i) \Rightarrow (iv) if Φ is simply laced and $S = I(x^{-1})$. Assume S is coplanar. Then for all $\alpha, \beta \in S$, $(\alpha, \beta) \geq 0$. Indeed, if this were not true, then we would have $\alpha + \beta \in \Phi^+$. Since $S = I(x^{-1})$ is closed under addition, this would imply $\alpha + \beta \in S$, violating (iii).

Suppose there exists $\beta \in S \setminus S^{\mathbb{Q}}$. Let

$$\beta = \sum r_i \beta_i \tag{7.1}$$

 $r_i \in \mathbb{Q}_{>0}, \beta_i \in S \setminus \{\beta\}$ be a positive rational decomposition of β . Applying (\cdot, β_i) to both sides of (7.1) yields $(\beta, \beta_i) > 0$. Thus $\langle \beta_i, \beta \rangle = 1$.

Applying $\langle \cdot, \beta \rangle$ to both sides of (7.1), we obtain $2 = \sum r_i$. Let v be such that $\alpha(v) = 1$ for all $\alpha \in S$. Applying v to both sides of (7.1), we find that $1 = \sum r_i$, a contradiction. \square

Remark 7.3. Some of the conclusions of Theorem 7.2 (i) - (vi) can be strengthened. For example, (iii) \Rightarrow (vi) does not require S to be simply laced (although the converse does).

Corollary 7.4. If Φ is of type A or D, then all elements of $I(x^{-1})$ are integrally indecomposable if and only if x if fully commutative.

Proof. In types A and D, $I(x^{-1})^{\mathbb{Q}} = I(x^{-1})^{\ddagger}$, by Proposition 6.4. Thus, in Theorem 7.2, conditions (ii) through (vi) are equivalent (see Figure 3).

Remark 7.5. In [GK22, Remark 6.5], the Weyl group element $x = s_2 s_1 s_3 s_4 s_2$ of type D_4 is considered. It is observed that all elements of $I(x^{-1})$ are integrally indecomposable, but x is not cominuscule (see [Ste01, Remark 5.4]). Nevertheless, x is fully commutative, as required by Corollary 7.4. Note that Stembridge's results apply since cominuscule Weyl group elements are exactly the minuscule elements for the dual root system (see [GK21, Section 5.2]).

8. Tangent spaces and T-invariant curves

In this section we recall some known results on tangent spaces and T-invariant curves of Schubert and Kazhdan-Lusztig varieties in G/P. We include some proofs for the convenience of the reader. Fix $w < x \in W^P$.

8.1. Schubert and Kazhdan-Lusztig varieties. We use the notation of Section 1.3. Let U_{α} denote the root subgroup of G corresponding to $\alpha \in \Phi$. If V is a unipotent subgroup of G normalized by T, then $U_{\alpha} \subseteq V$ if and only if $\alpha \in \Phi(V)$; otherwise $U_{\alpha} \cap V$ is the identity. Moreover, $V \cong \prod_{\alpha \in \Phi(V)} U_{\alpha}$.

Part (i) of the next lemma goes back at least to [Kos61], and part(ii) is an immediate consequence. Part (iii), which also follows easily from (i), is used implicitly in Knu09, Section 7.3].

Lemma 8.1. We have

- (i) $x\Phi_{P}^{-} \cap \Phi^{+} = I(x^{-1}).$ (ii) $x\Phi_{P}^{-} = (x\Phi_{P}^{-} \cap \Phi^{-}) \sqcup I(x^{-1}).$
- (iii) $U_P^-(x) \cap U = U^-(x) \cap U$.

Proof. (i) By definition, $I(x^{-1}) = x\Phi^- \cap \Phi^+$. The left coset analogue of [Kos61, Remark 5.13] states, in our notation, that $x(\Phi^+ \setminus \Phi_P^+) \subseteq \Phi^+$. Thus $x(\Phi^- \setminus \Phi_P^-) \subseteq \Phi^-$. This implies that $I(x^{-1}) = x\Phi^- \cap \Phi^+ = x\Phi_P^- \cap \overline{\Phi^+}$, as claimed.

(ii)
$$x\Phi_P^- = (x\Phi_P^- \cap \Phi^-) \sqcup (x\Phi_P^- \cap \Phi^+) = (x\Phi_P^- \cap \Phi^-) \sqcup I(x^{-1})$$
, by (i).

(iii) $U_{\alpha} \subseteq U_{P}^{-}(x) \cap U$ if $\alpha \in x\Phi_{P}^{-} \cap \Phi^{+}$, and $U_{\alpha} \subseteq U^{-}(x) \cap U$ if $\alpha \in I(x^{-1})$. By (i), $x\Phi_{P}^{-} \cap \Phi^{+} = I(x^{-1})$. Hence $U_{P}^{-}(x) \cap U$ and $U^{-}(x) \cap U$ contain the same root subgroups, so they are equal.

Combining this lemma with a well-known fact about the Bruhat order, we obtain the following corollary.

Corollary 8.2. Let $w \le x \in W^P$. Then $x\Phi_P^- \cap \Phi^+ = I(x^{-1}) = \{\alpha \in x\Phi_P^- \mid s_{\alpha}x < x\}$ and $x\Phi_P^- \cap \Phi^- = \{\alpha \in x\Phi_P^- \mid s_{\alpha}x > x\}.$

Proof. Let $\alpha \in \Phi$. Observe that $s_{\alpha}x > x$ if and only if $x^{-1}s_{\alpha} > x^{-1}$ if and only if α and $x^{-1}\alpha$ have the same sign. Thus, if $\alpha \in x\Phi_P^-$, then $s_{\alpha}x > x$ implies $\alpha \in x\Phi_P^- \cap \Phi^-$, and $s_{\alpha}x < x$ implies $\alpha \in x\Phi_P^- \cap \Phi^+ = I(x^{-1})$.

As noted in Section 1.3, the *T*-fixed points in G/P are the cosets zP for $z \in W^P$. We will sometimes denote the fixed point zP simply by z, when it is understood that we are considering a point in G/P. The Kazhdan-Lusztig variety Y_x^w is the intersection of the Schubert variety X^w with the opposite Schubert cell $X_x^0 = B \cdot xP$. It is irreducible of dimension $\ell(x) - \ell(w)$ (see [KL80, 1.4]), and is an open subvariety of the Richardson variety $X^w \cap X_x$. The unipotent subgroup $U_P^-(x)$ embeds as an open subset of G/Punder the mapping $U_P^-(x) \to U_P^-(x)xP$, and $X_x^0 = BxP = (U_P^-(x)\cap U)xP \subseteq U_P^-(x)xP$. Thus,

$$Y_x^w = X^w \cap (U_P^-(x) \cap U)xP.$$
(8.1)

We see that Y_x^w is an affine subvariety of $(U_P^-(x) \cap U)xP \cong U_P^-(x) \cap U$. As observed by Kazhdan and Lusztig (in the setting of the full flag variety G/B), a neighborhood of X^w near xP is isomorphic to the product of Y_x^w with an affine space (see [KL79, Lemma A4]). In the G/P setting, this takes the form of a *T*-equivariant isomorphism

$$X^{w} \cap U^{-}_{P}(x)xP \cong Y^{w}_{x} \times (U^{-}_{P}(x) \cap U^{-})xP.$$

$$(8.2)$$

Note that $(U_P^-(x) \cap U^-)xP = B^-xP = X_0^x$. The *T*-fixed points of X^w are the cosets $zP \in G/P$ such that $z \in W^P$ and $z \ge w$, whereas xP is the unique *T*-fixed point of Y_x^w .

We remark that although Kazhdan and Lusztig considered the full flag variety G/B, we have followed [Knu09] and used the term Kazhdan-Lusztig variety in the G/Psetting. A more detailed discussion of slices such as this may be found in [GK21].

8.2. *T*-invariant curves of Schubert and Kazhdan-Lusztig varieties. In this section we recall some results describing the sets of weights of tangent spaces and of *T*-invariant curves of Schubert varieties and Kazhdan-Lusztig varieties. These are obtained from the decomposition (8.2), as well as the description by Carrell and Peterson

of the *T*-invariant curves in Schubert varieties (see the proof of Proposition 8.3(i)). They will be used in the proof of our main result in the next section.

If Z is a variety with a T-action, then a T-invariant curve of Z is defined to be an irreducible curve C which is closed in Z and stable under the T-action, i.e., $t \cdot C \subseteq C$ for all $t \in T$. If z is a T-fixed point of Z, then denote the set of all T-invariant curves of Z containing z by E(Z, z). Denote the tangent space to Z at z by $T_z Z$, and $\sum_{C \in E(Z,z)} T_x C \subseteq T_z Z$ by $T E_z Z$.

The *T*-invariant curves in G/P are the curves of the form $\overline{U_{\alpha}xP}$, where $x \in W^P$ and $\alpha \in x\Phi_P^-$. Such a curve is isomorphic to \mathbb{P}^1 , and is equal to $U_{\alpha}xP \cup \{s_{\alpha}xP\}$. If *Z* is a *T*-invariant subvariety of G/P containing xP, then E(Z, x) consists of the curves $\overline{U_{\alpha}xP}$ such that $\overline{U_{\alpha}xP} \cap Z$ has dimension 1. Hence E(Z, x) is determined by the set of weights $\Phi(TE_xZ)$, since $\overline{U_{\alpha}xP} \cap Z \in E(Z, x)$ if and only if $\alpha \in \Phi(TE_xZ)$.

The description by Carrell and Peterson of T-invariant curves in Schubert varieties yields the following result.

Proposition 8.3. Let $w \leq x \in W^P$.

- (i) $\Phi(TE_xX^w) = \{ \alpha \in x\Phi_P^- \mid s_\alpha x \ge w \}.$
- (ii) $\Phi(TE_xY_x^w) = \{ \alpha \in I(x^{-1}) \mid s_\alpha x \ge w \}.$

Proof. (i) By the result of Carrell and Peterson (see [Car94], [CK03]),

$$E(X^w, xP) = \{ \overline{U_\alpha xP} \mid \alpha \in x\Phi_P^-, s_\alpha x \ge w \}.$$
(8.3)

By the discussion before the proposition, this is equivalent to (i).

(ii) The definition of Y_x^w implies that $E(Y_x^w, x)$ is the intersection of $E(X^w \cap U_P^-(x)xP, x)$ and $E((U_P^-(x) \cap U)xP, x)$. By (i),

$$E(X^{w} \cap U_{P}^{-}(x)xP, x) = \{U_{\alpha}xP \mid \alpha \in x\Phi_{P}^{-}, s_{\alpha}x \ge w\}.$$
(8.4)

Also, we have $U_{\alpha}xP \subseteq (U_P^-(x) \cap U)xP \Leftrightarrow U_{\alpha} \subseteq U_P^-(x) \cap U \Leftrightarrow \alpha \in \Phi(U_P^-(x) \cap U) = x\Phi_P^- \cap \Phi^+ = I(x^{-1})$ (here we have used Lemma 8.1). Thus,

$$E((U_P^{-}(x) \cap U)xP, x) = \{U_{\alpha}xP \mid \alpha \in I(x^{-1})\}.$$
(8.5)

Hence,

$$E(Y_x^w, xP) = \{ U_\alpha xP \mid \alpha \in I(x^{-1}), s_\alpha x \ge w \},$$
(8.6)

which implies (ii).

For later use, we summarize some facts about weights of tangent spaces and T-invariant curves in the following corollary.

Corollary 8.4. Let $w \leq x \in W^P$.

 $\begin{array}{l} \text{(i)} \ \ \Phi(T_xX^w) \subseteq x\Phi_P^-.\\ \text{(ii)} \ \ \Phi(T_xX^w) = (x\Phi_P^- \cap \Phi^-) \sqcup \Phi(T_xY^w_x) = \{\alpha \in x\Phi_P^- \mid s_\alpha x > x\} \sqcup \Phi(T_xY^w_x). \end{array}$

- (iii) $\Phi(T_x Y_x^w) = \Phi(T_x X^w) \cap I(x^{-1}).$
- (iv) $\Phi(TE_xX^w) = (x\Phi_P^- \cap \Phi^-) \sqcup \Phi(TE_xY^w_x).$
- (v) $\Phi(TE_xY_x^w) = \Phi(TE_xX^w) \cap I(x^{-1}) = \{ \alpha \in x\Phi_P^- \mid x > s_\alpha x \ge w \}.$

Proof. (i) $T_x X^w \subseteq T_x(G/P) \cong U_P^-(x)$, which has weights $x\Phi_P^-$.

(ii) The first equality follows from the decomposition (8.2) (it also appears in [GK22, Lemma 6.2(i)]). The second then follows from Corollary 8.2.

(iii) This follows from (i), (ii), and Lemma 8.1(ii).

(iv) By Lemma 8.1(ii) and Proposition 8.3, $\Phi(TE_xX^w) = \{\alpha \in x\Phi_P^- \cap \Phi^- \mid s_\alpha x \ge w\} \sqcup \Phi(TE_xY_x^w)$. But by Corollary 8.2, for all $\alpha \in x\Phi_P^- \cap \Phi^-$, $s_\alpha x \ge w$.

(v) The first equality follows from (i), (iv), and Lemma 8.1(ii). The second can be deduced from Proposition 8.3(i) and Corollary 8.2. \Box

9. INDECOMPOSABLE WEIGHTS OF TANGENT SPACES AND T-INVARIANT CURVES

Fix $w \leq x \in W^P$. Define $\Phi_{\tan} = \Phi(T_x X^w)$, $\Phi_{\operatorname{cur}} = \Phi(T E_x X^w)$, $\Phi_{\tan}^{\operatorname{KL}} = \Phi(T_x Y_x^w)$, and $\Phi_{\operatorname{cur}}^{\operatorname{KL}} = \Phi(T E_x Y_x^w)$. We refer to Φ_{\tan} and $\Phi_{\tan}^{\operatorname{KL}}$ as sets of tangent weights, and $\Phi_{\operatorname{cur}}$ and $\Phi_{\operatorname{cur}}^{\operatorname{KL}}$ as sets of curve weights.

In this section we prove the main result of this paper, Theorem 1.1 (see Corollary 9.3): $\Phi_{tan} \subseteq \operatorname{Cone}_A \Phi_{cur}$. We deduce this from the stronger statement $\Phi_{tan}^{KL} \subseteq \operatorname{Cone}_A \Phi_{cur}^{KL}$. This result relies on properties of Φ_{tan}^{KL} studied in [GK22], the characterization of Φ_{cur}^{KL} by Carrell-Peterson [Car94], and Corollary 5.5.

Observe that $\Phi_{\text{cur}}^{\text{KL}} \subseteq \Phi_{\text{tan}}^{\text{KL}} \subseteq I(x^{-1})$, where the second inclusion follows from Corollary 8.4(iii). Also,

$$\Phi_{\rm cur}^{\rm KL} = I(x^{-1})_{x \ge w},\tag{9.1}$$

as follows from Proposition 8.3(ii) and the equality $x_i = s_{\gamma_i} x$.

Proposition 9.1. We have $\Phi_{tan}^{KL} \subseteq \operatorname{Cone}_{\mathbb{Z}}(I(x^{-1})_{z \geq w})$.

Proof. We first give definitions of three terms which appear in equation (9.2) below. Recall that $\mathbf{s} = (s_1, \ldots, s_l)$ is a fixed reduced expression for x. Define $\mathcal{T}_{w,\mathbf{s}}$ to be the set of sequences $\mathbf{t} = (i_1, \ldots, i_m), 1 \leq i_1 < \cdots < i_m \leq l$, such that $H_{s_{i_1}} \cdots H_{s_{i_m}} = H_w$. For such \mathbf{t} , define $e(\mathbf{t}) = m - \ell(w)$. For $\zeta \in \text{Cone}_{\mathbb{Z}}\{\gamma_i : i \notin \mathbf{t}\}$, define n_{ζ} to be the number of ways to express ζ as a nonnegative integer linear combination of the $\gamma_i, i \notin \mathbf{t}$.

Let B and C be the coordinate rings of the tangent space and scheme-theoretic tangent cone respectively of Y_x^w at x, and let B_1 and C_1 be the degree one components of these rings. By equation (5.2) of [GK22] (see also [GK22, Theorem 6.1]) and the simplifications following this equation, the character of C for the T-action is

$$\operatorname{Char} C = \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathcal{T}_{w,\mathbf{s}}} \sum_{\zeta \in \operatorname{Cone}_{\mathbb{Z}}\{\gamma_i : i \notin \mathbf{t}\}} (-1)^{e(\mathbf{t})} n_{\zeta} e^{-\zeta}.$$
(9.2)

For each γ_i in this summation, $i \notin \mathbf{t}$ for some $\mathbf{t} \in \mathcal{T}_{w,\mathbf{s}}$; by [GK22, Theorem 5.8], $z_i \geq w$. Therefore all weights ζ of C lie in $-\operatorname{Cone}_{\mathbb{Z}}(I(x^{-1})_{z>w})$. So too do all weights of B_1 , since B_1 and C_1 are canonically identified. But B_1 is the dual space of $T_x Y_x^w$. Hence all weights of $T_x Y_x^w$ lie in $\operatorname{Cone}_{\mathbb{Z}}(I(x^{-1})_{z \ge w})$. \square

Theorem 9.2. We have:

- (i) Cone_A Φ^{KL}_{tan} = Cone_A Φ^{KL}_{cur}, or equivalently, (Φ^{KL}_{tan})^A = (Φ^{KL}_{cur})^A. Hence Φ^{KL}_{tan} ⊆ Cone_A Φ^{KL}_{cur}.
 (ii) Φ^{KL}_{tan} ∩ I(x⁻¹)^A = Φ^{KL}_{cur} ∩ I(x⁻¹)^A.
 (iii) Φ^{KL}_{tan} ∩ I(x⁻¹)^A = Φ^{KL}_{cur} ∩ I(x⁻¹)^A = (Φ^{KL}_{cur})^A = (Φ^{KL}_{tan})^A, if Φ is of classical type on of two C
- or of type G_2 .

Proof. (i) For $S = I(x^{-1})$.

$$\Phi_{\mathrm{tan}}^{\mathrm{KL}} \subseteq \mathrm{Cone}_{\mathbb{Z}}(S_{z \ge w}) \subseteq \mathrm{Cone}_{A}(S_{z \ge w}) = \mathrm{Cone}_{A}(S_{x \ge w}) = \mathrm{Cone}_{A}\Phi_{\mathrm{cur}}^{\mathrm{KL}},$$

where the inclusions and equalities are due, respectively, to Proposition 9.1, $\mathbb{Z} \subseteq A$, Corollary 5.5, and equation (9.1). It follows that $\operatorname{Cone}_A \Phi_{\operatorname{tan}}^{\operatorname{KL}} \subseteq \operatorname{Cone}_A \Phi_{\operatorname{cur}}^{\operatorname{KL}}$, and the other inclusion is clear. The equivalence of the second equality of (i) is due to Corollary 3.11. Note that in general, we need to take $A = \mathbb{Q}$ to apply Corollary 5.5. However, if G is simply laced, Corollary 5.5 holds for $A = \mathbb{Z}$ as well, so we can take either $A = \mathbb{Q}$ or $A = \mathbb{Z}$.

(ii) follows from (i) and Lemma 2.2(iii).

(iii) The first and third equalities are (ii) and (i) respectively, and the second equality follows from Corollary 6.7 and equation (9.1).

We can deduce from Theorem 9.2 analogous results for Schubert varieties.

Corollary 9.3. We have:

(i) $\operatorname{Cone}_A \Phi_{\operatorname{tan}} = \operatorname{Cone}_A \Phi_{\operatorname{cur}}$, or equivalently, $(\Phi_{\operatorname{tan}})^A = (\Phi_{\operatorname{cur}})^A$. Hence $\Phi_{\operatorname{tan}} \subseteq$ $\operatorname{Cone}_A \Phi_{\operatorname{cur}}$.

- (ii) $\Phi_{\tan} \cap (x\Phi_P^-)^A = \Phi_{\operatorname{cur}} \cap (x\Phi_P^-)^A$.
- (iii) $\Phi_{\tan} \cap x\Delta^- = \Phi_{\operatorname{cur}} \cap x\Delta^-$, if $X^w \subseteq G/B$.

Proof. (i) follows from Theorem 9.2(i) and Corollary 8.4(ii), (iv).

(ii) follows from (i) and Lemma 2.2(iii).

(iii) follows from (ii) and Corollary 6.10.

If we restrict attention to Schubert varieties in G/B and $x = w_0$, the longest element of the Weyl group, some of our results simplify. In this case, since P = B, $\Phi_P^- = \Phi^$ and $x\Phi_P^- = w_0\Phi^- = \Phi^+$. Thus, by Corollary 9.3(i) and Proposition 8.3(i), $\Phi_{tan} \subseteq$

 $\operatorname{Cone}_A \Phi_{\operatorname{cur}} = \operatorname{Cone}_A \{ \alpha \in \Phi^+ \mid s_\alpha w_0 \ge w \}$. Moreover, $s_\alpha w_0 \ge w$ is equivalent to $s_\alpha \le w w_0$ (see [Hum90, Example 5.9.3]). Hence we obtain

$$\Phi_{\tan} \subseteq \operatorname{Cone}_A \{ \alpha \in \Phi^+ \mid s_\alpha \le w w_0 \}$$

The following proposition gives a stronger result for classical types and type G_2 .

Proposition 9.4. Suppose Φ is of classical type or of type G_2 , P = B, and $x = w_0$. Then $(\Phi_{cur})^A = \{ \alpha \in \Delta \mid s_\alpha \leq ww_0 \}$, and thus

$$\Phi_{\tan} \subseteq \operatorname{Cone}_A \{ \alpha \in \Delta \mid s_\alpha \le w w_0 \}.$$
(9.3)

Proof. Since $x = w_0$, $S = I(x^{-1}) = \Phi^+$. By Proposition 6.9, $S^A = \Delta$. We have

$$(S_{x \ge w})^A = (S^A)_{x \ge w} = \{ \alpha \in \Delta \mid s_\alpha w_0 \ge w \},\$$

where the first equality is by Corollary 6.7, and the second is because $S^A = \Delta$. By (9.1), $S_{x \ge w} = \Phi_{\text{cur}}^{\text{KL}}$. Since $x = w_0$, by Corollary 8.4(iv), $\Phi_{\text{cur}}^{\text{KL}} = \Phi_{\text{cur}}$. We conclude that

$$(\Phi_{\rm cur})^A = \{ \alpha \in \Delta \mid s_\alpha w_0 \ge w \}.$$

Since $s_{\alpha}w_0 \ge w \Leftrightarrow s_{\alpha} \le ww_0$, and $\Phi_{\tan} \subseteq \operatorname{Cone}_A((\Phi_{\operatorname{cur}})^A)$ (see Corollary 3.10), the result follows.

We remark that the condition $s_{\alpha} \leq ww_0$ appearing in Proposition 9.4 is equivalent to the condition that the simple reflection s_{α} occurs in a reduced expression for ww_0 .

Remark 9.5. In Corollary 9.3, we proved that $\Phi(T_xX^w) \subseteq \operatorname{Cone}_{\mathbb{Q}} \Phi(TE_xX^w)$. We sketch an alternative proof of this result provided by the referee (who attributed it to "folklore"), and we thank the referee for the same. To our knowledge, the stronger result for simply laced types, namely that $\Phi(T_xX^w) \subseteq \operatorname{Cone}_{\mathbb{Z}} \Phi(TE_xX^w)$, is not recovered by this proof.

Since $\Phi(T_x X^w)$ is contained in an open half-space, x is said to be an *attractive* fixed point of X^w (see [Bri99, 1.3]). Hence there exists an open affine T-invariant neighborhood U_x of x in X^w together with a T-equivariant closed embedding $\iota: U_x \to T_x X^w$ (see [ByB73, Corollary 2] or [Bri99, Proposition A2]). If $p: T_x X^w \to T E_x X^w$ is the natural T-equivariant projection, then the T-equivariant map $\pi = p \circ \iota: U_x \to T E_x X^w$ is known to be finite (see proof of [Bri98, Theorem 17]).

We shall denote the coordinate ring of an affine scheme V by k[V], where k is the ground field. For $\lambda \in \Phi(T_x X^w)$, there exists $x_\lambda \in k[T_x X^w]$ with weight $-\lambda$. Let $y = \iota^*(x_\lambda) \in k[U_x]$, where ι^* is the map on coordinate rings induced by ι . Then y also has weight $-\lambda$. Since π is finite, y is integral over $k[TE_x X^w]$. Thus there exist $a_0, \ldots, a_m \in k[TE_x X^w]$ such that

$$y^m + a_{m-1}y^{m-1} + \dots + a_1y + a_0 = 0.$$
(9.4)

The coordinate ring $k[TE_xX^w]$ is equal to the polynomial ring $k[z_\mu: \mu \in \Phi(TE_xX)]$, where z_μ represents a vector in $(TE_xX^w)^*$ of weight $-\mu$. Since the weight of y^m is $m(-\lambda)$, equation (9.4) implies that for some i < m, a_i must contain a monomial $(z_{\mu_1})^{j_1} \cdots (z_{\mu_t})^{j_t}$ such that the weight of $(z_{\mu_1})^{j_1} \cdots (z_{\mu_t})^{j_t} y^i$ is also $m(-\lambda)$. Thus

$$j_1(-\mu_1) + \dots + j_t(-\mu_t) = (m-i)(-\lambda).$$

Hence λ is a nonnegative rational linear combination of elements of $\Phi(TE_xX^w)$. We conclude that $\Phi(T_xX^w) \subseteq \operatorname{Cone}_{\mathbb{Q}} \Phi(TE_xX^w)$, as desired.

10. When tangent weights are curve weights

In this section, we use Theorem 9.2 and Corollary 9.3 to study cases where elements of Φ_{tan} lie in Φ_{cur} , and thus can be easily characterized. We use this analysis to give smoothness criteria for X^w at certain points x.

10.1. Characterizations of tangent spaces. Recall that $\Phi_{tan} \subseteq x \Phi_P^-$ and $\Phi_{tan}^{KL} \subseteq x \Phi_P^- \cap \Phi^+ = I(x^{-1})$.

Theorem 10.1. (cf. [GK22, Theorem A]) Let $\alpha \in I(x^{-1})^A$. Then $\alpha \in \Phi_{\text{tan}}^{\text{KL}}$ if and only if $s_{\alpha}x \geq w$.

Proof. For $\alpha \in I(x^{-1})^A$, Theorem 9.2(ii) implies that $\alpha \in \Phi_{\text{tan}}^{\text{KL}}$ if and only if $\alpha \in \Phi_{\text{cur}}^{\text{KL}}$. This occurs if and only if $s_{\alpha}x \geq w$ by Proposition 8.3(ii),

Corollary 10.2. Let $\alpha \in x \Phi_P^-$.

- (i) If $s_{\alpha}x > x$, then $\alpha \in \Phi_{\tan}$.
- (ii) If $s_{\alpha}x < x$, then $\alpha \in I(x^{-1})$. In this case, if $\alpha \in I(x^{-1})^A$, then $\alpha \in \Phi_{\tan}$ if and only if $s_{\alpha}x \ge w$.

Proof. (i) If $s_{\alpha}x > x$, then $\alpha \in x\Phi_P^- \cap \Phi^-$ by Corollary 8.2, so $\alpha \in \Phi_{\tan}$ by Corollary 8.4(ii). Note that $x\Phi_P^- \cap \Phi^-$ is the set of weights of $X_0^x = B^- \cdot xP$ (cf. (8.2) and the comment after this equation).

(ii) If $s_{\alpha}x < x$, then $\alpha \in I(x^{-1})$ by Corollary 8.2, and thus, by Corollary 8.4(iii), $\alpha \in \Phi_{\text{tan}}$ if and only if $\alpha \in \Phi_{\text{tan}}^{\text{KL}}$. By Theorem 10.1, if $\alpha \in I(x^{-1})^A$, this occurs if and only if $s_{\alpha}x \ge w$.

Corollary 10.3. Let $X^w \subseteq G/B$ and let $\alpha \in x\Delta^-$. Then $\alpha \in \Phi_{tan}$ if and only if $s_{\alpha}x \geq w$.

Proof. For $\alpha \in x\Delta^-$, Corollary 9.3(iii) implies that $\alpha \in \Phi_{\text{tan}}$ if and only if $\alpha \in \Phi_{\text{cur}}$, which by Proposition 8.3(i) is equivalent to $s_{\alpha}x \geq w$.

Recall from Section 7 that a root set $S \subseteq \Phi^+$ is said to be *coplanar* if there exists $v \in \mathfrak{t}$ such that $\alpha(v) = -1$ for all $\alpha \in S$; and that x is said to be a *cominuscule* Weyl group element if $I(x^{-1})$ is coplanar. If Φ_{tan}^{KL} is coplanar, then x is called a KL *cominuscule* point of X^w . Since $\Phi_{tan}^{KL} \subseteq I(x^{-1})$, if x is a cominuscule Weyl group element, then x

is a KL cominuscule point of X^w . See [GK24] or [GK21] for further discussion of KL cominuscule points. The maximal parabolic subgroup $P \supseteq B$ (or sometimes G/P) is said to be *cominuscule* if the simple root corresponding to P occurs with coefficient 1 when the highest root of G is written as a linear combination of the simple roots.

Theorem 10.4. Suppose that Φ is simply laced and that any of the following hold:

- (i) All elements of Φ^{KL}_{tan} are integrally indecomposable in Φ^{KL}_{tan}.
 (ii) All elements of I(x⁻¹) are integrally indecomposable in I(x⁻¹).
- (iii) x is fully commutative and Φ is of types A or D.
- (iv) x is a KL cominuscule point of X^w .
- (v) x is a cominuscule Weyl group element.
- (vi) P is cominuscule.

Then $\Phi_{\text{tan}}^{\text{KL}} = \Phi_{\text{cur}}^{\text{KL}}$ and $\Phi_{\text{tan}} = \Phi_{\text{cur}}$. If $\alpha \in x \Phi_P^-$, then $\alpha \in \Phi_{\text{tan}}^{\text{KL}}$ if and only if $x > s_{\alpha}x \ge w$, and $\alpha \in \Phi_{\text{tan}}$ if and only if $s_{\alpha}x \ge w$.

Proof. (iii) \Rightarrow (i) \Rightarrow (i) by Corollary 7.4 and Lemma 2.2(v) respectively; (vi) \Rightarrow (v) \Rightarrow (iv) \Rightarrow (i) by [GK22, Proposition 6.7], definition, and Theorem 7.2 respectively.

Thus we may assume that (i) holds, i.e., $(\Phi_{tan}^{KL})^{\mathbb{Z}} = \Phi_{tan}^{KL}$. By Lemma 2.2(v), $(\Phi_{cur}^{KL})^{\mathbb{Z}} = \Phi_{cur}^{KL}$. Hence Theorem 9.2(i) implies $\Phi_{tan}^{KL} = \Phi_{cur}^{KL}$. From Corollary 8.4(ii) and (iv) it follows that $\Phi_{tan} = \Phi_{cur}$. Let $\alpha \in x \Phi_P^-$. By Corollary 8.4(v), $\alpha \in \Phi_{tan}^{KL} = \Phi_{cur}^{KL} \Leftrightarrow x >$ $s_{\alpha}x \ge w$. By Proposition 8.3(i), $\alpha \in \Phi_{tan} = \Phi_{cur} \Leftrightarrow s_{\alpha}x \ge w$.

The decomposition (8.2) implies that x is a smooth point of X^w if and only if x is a smooth point of Y_x^w . Theorem 10.4 yields the following smoothness criterion.

Corollary 10.5. Suppose that Φ is simply laced. If any of the conditions of Theorem 10.4 are satisfied, then the following are equivalent:

- (i) x is a smooth point of X^w and Y^w_x .
- (ii) $|\{\alpha \in x\Phi_P^- : s_\alpha x \ge w\}| = \dim X^w$.
- (iii) $|\{\alpha \in I(x^{-1}) : s_{\alpha}x \ge w\}| = \dim Y_x^w.$

Proof. If any of the conditions of Theorem 10.4 is satisfied, then

$$|\Phi_{\operatorname{tan}}| = |\Phi_{\operatorname{cur}}| = |\{\alpha \in x\Phi_P^- : s_\alpha x \ge w\}|.$$

Thus, (ii) holds if and only if $|\Phi_{tan}| = \dim X^w$, which by definition is equivalent to smoothness of X^w at x. Hence (i) \Leftrightarrow (ii). The equivalence of (i) and (iii) is proved similarly.

10.2. Smoothness and reduced expressions. Recall that $\mathbf{s} = (s_1, \ldots, s_l)$ is a reduced expression for x. Since $w \leq x$, s contains a reduced subexpression for w. Let $M = \{i \in [l] : (s_1, \dots, \widehat{s_i}, \dots, s_l) \text{ contains a reduced subexpression for } w\}.$

Lemma 10.6. $|M| = \ell(x) - \ell(w)$ if and only if **s** contains a unique reduced subexpression for w.

Proof. Let $1 \leq i_1 < \cdots < i_t \leq l$ be such that $(s_1, \ldots, \hat{s}_{i_1}, \ldots, \hat{s}_{i_t}, \ldots, s_l)$ is a reduced expression for w. If it is the unique reduced subexpression of \mathbf{s} for w, then $M = \{i_1, \ldots, i_t\}$, and $|M| = l - \ell(w) = \ell(x) - \ell(w)$. If there exists another reduced subexpression of \mathbf{s} for w, then $M \supseteq \{i_1, \ldots, i_t\}$, and $|M| > \ell(x) - \ell(w)$. \Box

Theorem 10.7. Suppose that Φ is simply laced. If any of the conditions (ii), (iii), (v), or (vi) of Theorem 10.4 are satisfied, then x is a smooth point of X^w if and only if **s** contains a unique reduced subexpression for w.

Proof. First, we claim that since Φ is simply laced, x is a smooth point of X^w if and only if

$$|\{i \in [l] : x_i \ge w\}| = \ell(x) - \ell(w).$$
(10.1)

Indeed, for any $\alpha \in I(x^{-1})$, $\alpha = \gamma_i$ for some $i \in [l]$, and $s_{\alpha}x = x_i$. Hence the left side of (10.1) equals $|\{\alpha \in I(x^{-1}) : s_{\alpha}x \geq w\}|$. The right side of (10.1) equals dim Y_x^w . Hence the claim follows from Corollary 10.5.

Conditions (iii), (v), and (vi) of Theorem 10.4 all imply condition (ii) of the same theorem; hence we may assume that $I(x^{-1})^{\mathbb{Z}} = I(x^{-1})$. By Theorem 7.2, $I(x^{-1})^{\ddagger} = I(x^{-1})$; hence $x_i = z_i$ for all *i*. Consequently,

$$\{i \in [l] : x_i \ge w\} = \{i \in [l] : z_i \ge w\}.$$

By Lemma 4.2, $z_i \ge w$ if and only if $(s_1, \ldots, \hat{s}_i, \ldots, s_l)$ contains a reduced subexpression for w. Therefore $\{i \in [l] : z_i \ge w\} = M$. Therefore, x is a smooth point of X^w if and only if $|M| = \ell(x) - \ell(w)$. The result now follows from Lemma 10.6.

For P cominuscule, the smoothness criterion of Theorem 10.7 applies even when Φ is not simply laced. This can be deduced from [GK15, Corollary 2.11], which states that the multiplicity of $x \in X^w$ when P is cominuscule is equal to the number of reduced subexpressions of **s** for w. Of course, x is a smooth point of X^w precisely when its multiplicity equals 1. Thus the result is obtained.

Further discussion of the smoothness criterion of Theorem 10.7 appears in [GK24].

11. Examples

In this section we consider examples. In Section 11.1, we determine the tangent space at w_0 to singular 3-dimensional Schubert varieties for an irreducible root system not of type G_2 . Section 11.2 focuses on type D. We define a family of elements $w_{ab} \in W$, for $1 \le a < b < n - 1$, and let Φ_{tan} and Φ_{cur} be defined taking $x = w_0$ and $w = w_{ab}$. We show that Φ_{tan} properly contains Φ_{cur} , and verify by direct calculation that Cone_A $\Phi_{cur} \supseteq \Phi_{tan}$, as guaranteed by our main result Theorem 1.1.

Throughout this section, we take P = B so $W^P = W$. In this section, Φ_{tan} and Φ_{cur} always refer to the sets of curve and tangent weights at the point $x = w_0$.

11.1. Three-dimensional Schubert varieties. Schubert varieties of dimension 3 are of the form X^w , where either:

- (1) $w = w_0 s_\alpha s_\beta s_\alpha$ for nonorthogonal simple roots α, β .
- (2) $w = w_0 s_\alpha s_\beta s_\gamma$, where α , β , γ are distinct simple roots.

For w as in (1), it is shown in [Bri98] that if $\langle \beta, \alpha^{\vee} \rangle \leq -2$, then X^w is rationally smooth but not smooth at w_0 . Using equivariant multiplicities, one can show that for w as in type (2) that X^w is smooth at w_0 . The equivariant multiplicity at w_0 can be calculated using a formula for equivariant multiplicities due to Arabia and Rossmann ([Ara89, Prop. 3.3.1] and [Ros89]; see [Bri98, Section 4]); then a result from [Kum96] (see [Bri98, Cor. 19]) may be applied to deduce smoothness.

In light of this discussion, the following proposition describes the tangent space at w_0 to a singular 3-dimensional Schubert variety for an irreducible root system Φ not of type G_2 .

Proposition 11.1. Assume Φ is irreducible. Suppose α and β are simple roots with $\langle \beta, \alpha^{\vee} \rangle = -2$. Let Φ_{tan} and Φ_{cur} correspond to $w = w_0 s_\alpha s_\beta s_\alpha$ and $x = w_0$. Then

$$\Phi_{\rm cur} = \{\alpha, \beta, 2\alpha + \beta\} \text{ and } \Phi_{\rm tan} = \{\alpha, \beta, \alpha + \beta, 2\alpha + \beta\}.$$

Proof. Since there are two root lengths in Φ , the action of w_0 on Φ is by multiplication by -1 (cf. [Hum72, Sec. 13, Ex. 5]), so w_0 is in the center of W.

Taking $x = w_0$, we have $\Phi_{cur} = \{\gamma \in \Phi^+ \mid s_\gamma w_0 \ge w\}$. Equivalently, $\Phi_{cur} = \{\gamma \in \Phi^+ \mid s_\gamma \le s_\alpha s_\beta s_\alpha\}$. (The statements are equivalent because $s_\gamma w_0 \ge w$ is equivalent to $w_0 s_\gamma w_0 \le w_0 w$; since w_0 is in the center of W, this is equivalent to $s_\gamma \le s_\alpha s_\beta s_\alpha$.) Since the length of s_γ is odd, the only possibilities for s_γ are s_α , s_β , or $s_\alpha s_\beta s_\alpha = s_{s_\alpha\beta}$. We conclude that $\Phi_{cur} = \{\alpha, \beta, s_\alpha\beta\} = \{\alpha, \beta, 2\alpha + \beta\}$.

We have

$$\Phi_{\rm cur} \subsetneq \Phi_{\rm tan} \subseteq {\rm Cone}_A \, \Phi_{\rm cur}. \tag{11.1}$$

The first inclusion is proper because X^w is singular at w_0 , so dim $T_{w_0}X^w > \dim X^w = 3 = |\Phi_{cur}|$. The second inclusion follows from our main result. In this example, α and β span a root system of type B_2 , with long root β . Thus, there are 4 roots in the cone spanned (over \mathbb{Q} or \mathbb{Z}) by α, β , namely, $\alpha, \beta, s_{\alpha}\beta = 2\alpha + \beta, s_{\beta}\alpha = \alpha + \beta$, the first three of which are in Φ_{cur} . From (11.1), we conclude that Φ_{tan} must consist of all 4 of these roots.

Note that for Φ of type G_2 (which occurs exactly when $\langle \beta, \alpha^{\vee} \rangle = -3$), there are more than 4 positive roots, so the arguments above do not suffice to determine Φ_{tan} .

11.2. Examples in type D_n . In this section we assume Φ is of type D_n . We define a family of elements w_{ab} (a < b < n - 1), and consider the tangent spaces $T_{w_0}X^{w_{ab}}$ at $x = w_0$. We write $\Phi_{\text{oth}} = \Phi_{\text{tan}} \setminus \Phi_{\text{cur}}$ for the set of "other" roots in the tangent space of $X^{w_{ab}}$ at w_0 . (Of course, $\Phi_{\text{tan}}, \Phi_{\text{cur}}$, and Φ_{oth} all depend on the choice of $x = w_0$ and of $w_{ab} \in W$, but we omit this from the notation.) We will calculate Φ_{oth} , and identify enough elements of Φ_{cur} to show that each root in Φ_{oth} is a sum of two roots in Φ_{cur} . Thus, in this example, we can verify our main result that $\Phi_{\text{tan}} \subseteq \text{Cone}_A \Phi_{\text{cur}}$ by direct calculation.

We have chosen $x = w_0$ in this section because the description of the tangent spaces $T_x(X^w)$ in [Lak00a] and [BL00] is much simpler for $x = w_0$ than for arbitrary x.

We use the standard realization of the root system of D_n as in Section 6. Let $w \in W$. We have $\Phi_{\text{cur}} = \{\gamma \in \Phi^+ \mid s_{\gamma}w_0 \geq w\}$. Applying [Lak00a, Theorem 6.8] or [BL00, Theorem 5.3.1], we see that $\gamma \in \Phi_{\text{oth}}$ if and only if $\gamma = \epsilon_i + \epsilon_j$, with $1 \leq i < j < n-1$, and

- (1) $s_{\gamma}w_0 \geq w$, and
- (2) $s_{\epsilon_i \epsilon_n} s_{\epsilon_i + \epsilon_n} s_{\epsilon_i + \epsilon_{n-1}} w_0 \ge w.$

(In translating the result from [Lak00a] we have used the fact that w_0 commutes with $s_{\epsilon_i-\epsilon_n}s_{\epsilon_i+\epsilon_n}s_{\epsilon_j+\epsilon_{n-1}}$, as can easily be seen by writing the elements of W as signed permutations (cf. [BG03].)

Motivated by condition (2), for $1 \le a < b < n-1$, we define $u_{ab} = s_{\epsilon_a - \epsilon_n} s_{\epsilon_a + \epsilon_n} s_{\epsilon_b + \epsilon_{n-1}}$, and set $w_{ab} = u_{ab}w_0$. If $w = w_{ab}$, then we claim that (1) and (2) are equivalent to the conditions:

- (1') $s_{\gamma} \not\leq u_{ab}$, and
- $(2') u_{ij} < u_{ab}.$

Indeed, condition (1) states that $s_{\gamma}w_0 \geq w_{ab} = u_{ab}w_0$, which is equivalent to (1'). Condition (2) states that $u_{ij}w_0 \geq w_{ab} = u_{ab}w_0$, which is equivalent to (2'). This verifies the claim.

Proposition 11.2. Suppose Φ is of type D_n for $n \ge 4$. Fix a, b satisfying $1 \le a < b < n-1$. Let Φ_{tan} , Φ_{cur} , and Φ_{oth} be defined as above, corresponding to $x = w_0$ and $w = w_{ab}$. Assume below that i, j denote integers satisfying $1 \le i < j < n-1$. Then:

- (a) $\Phi_{\text{oth}} = \{\epsilon_i + \epsilon_j \mid i \ge a, j \ge b\}.$
- (b) Suppose $i \ge a$ and $j \ge b$. Then the roots $\epsilon_i \pm \epsilon_{n-1}$ and $\epsilon_j \pm \epsilon_{n-1}$ are in Φ_{cur} .
- (c) $\Phi_{\tan} \subseteq \operatorname{Cone}_A \Phi_{\operatorname{cur}}$.

Proof. We sketch the proof, but omit most details, which involve calculations in the Bruhat order in type D_n . We adopt the conventions and notation of [BG03]. The Weyl group of type D_n can be realized as the group of signed permutations of $1, \ldots, n$, with an even number of negative signs. If $u \in W$, write $u(i) = u_i$; then u can be represented

by the sequence $u_1u_2...u_n$. Here $u_i \in \{1, \overline{1}, 2, \overline{2}, ..., n, \overline{n}\}$, where \overline{a} denotes -a. Write $\gamma = \epsilon_i + \epsilon_j$.

The proof uses two key facts about the Bruhat order. The first is the fact that if $u \in W$ and β is a positive root with $u\beta > 0$, then $u < us_{\beta}$. The second is a characterization of the Bruhat order in type D_n in terms of the sequences representing elements of W as signed permutations. This characterization is due to Proctor [Pro82]; the statement may also be found in [BG03, Prop. 2.10].

We first consider (a). We know that $\gamma \in \Phi_{oth}$ if and only if conditions (1') and (2') are satisfied. We claim first that (2') is satisfied $\Leftrightarrow a \leq i$ and $b \leq j$. The implication (\Rightarrow) is proved by considering the contrapositive. If either of $i \geq a$ or $j \geq b$ is false, then applying Proctor's condition to the signed permutations corresponding u_{ij} and u_{ab} , we see that $u_{ij} \leq u_{ab}$. The calculation is made easier because the parity condition in this characterization is not needed, and one can restrict attention to the places where the expressions for u_{ij} and u_{ab} differ from the identity permutation $12 \dots n$ (cf. [BG03, Lemma 3.4]). To prove (\Leftarrow), we suppose $i \geq a$ and $j \geq b$. In this case, we can exhibit a sequence of positive roots β_1, \dots, β_r such that

$$u_{ij} < u_{ij}s_{\beta_1} < \dots < u_{ij}s_{\beta_1}s_{\beta_2} \cdots s_{\beta_r} = u_{ab}.$$
 (11.2)

This calculation is facilitated by considering elements of W as signed permutations and using the description of multiplication by reflections in [BG03, (2.1)]. We omit further details. This proves the claim.

To complete the proof of (a), we need to verify that if $\gamma = \epsilon_i + \epsilon_j$, with $a \leq i$ and $b \leq j$, then $s_{\gamma} \leq u_{ab}$. This can be verified by writing down the expressions for s_{γ} and u_{ab} as signed permutations, and again using Proctor's characterization of the Bruhat order. We omit further details. This completes the proof of (a).

We next consider (b). We know a root ζ is in Φ_{cur} if and only if $s_{\zeta}w_0 \geq w_{ab} = u_{ab}w_0$, or equivalently, $s_{\zeta} < u_{ab}$. Thus, we want to show that if ζ is one of the four roots listed in the statement of (b), then $s_{\zeta} < u_{ab}$. Since $s_{\epsilon_j-\epsilon_{n-1}} < s_{\epsilon_i-\epsilon_{n-1}}$ and $s_{\epsilon_j+\epsilon_{n-1}} < s_{\epsilon_i+\epsilon_{n-1}}$, we only need to prove this for ζ equal to $\epsilon_i - \epsilon_{n-1}$ or $\epsilon_i + \epsilon_{n-1}$. We prove that $s_{\zeta} < u_{ab}$ in the same way the statement $u_{ij} \leq u_{ab}$ was proved in part (a), by exhibiting sequences analogous to (11.2). We omit further details.

Finally, part (c) follows from parts (a) and (b). Indeed, since

$$\epsilon_i + \epsilon_j = (\epsilon_i - \epsilon_{n-1}) + (\epsilon_j + \epsilon_{n-1}) = (\epsilon_i + \epsilon_{n-1}) + (\epsilon_j - \epsilon_{n-1})$$

parts (a) and (b) imply that every root in Φ_{oth} is in $\text{Cone}_A \Phi_{\text{cur}}$.

References

- [Ara89] Alberto Arabia, Cohomologie T-équivariante de la variété de drapeaux d'un groupe de Kac-Moody, Bull. Soc. Math. France 117 (1989), no. 2, 129–165. MR 1015806
- [BG03] Brian D. Boe and William Graham, A lookup conjecture for rational smoothness, Amer. J. Math. 125 (2003), no. 2, 317–356. MR 1963688

- [Bil98] Sara C. Billey, Pattern avoidance and rational smoothness of Schubert varieties, Adv. Math. 139 (1998), no. 1, 141–156. MR 1652522
- [BJS93] Sara C. Billey, William Jockusch, and Richard P. Stanley, Some combinatorial properties of Schubert polynomials, J. Algebraic Combin. 2 (1993), no. 4, 345–374. MR 1241505
- [BL00] Sara Billey and V. Lakshmibai, Singular loci of Schubert varieties, Progress in Mathematics, vol. 182, Birkhäuser Boston Inc., Boston, MA, 2000. MR 1782635 (2001j:14065)
- [Bou02] Nicolas Bourbaki, Lie groups and Lie algebras. Chapters 4–6, Elements of Mathematics (Berlin), Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2002, Translated from the 1968 French original by Andrew Pressley. MR 1890629
- [Bri98] Michel Brion, Equivariant cohomology and equivariant intersection theory, Representation theories and algebraic geometry (Montreal, PQ, 1997), NATO Adv. Sci. Inst. Ser. C: Math. Phys. Sci., vol. 514, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 1998, Notes by Alvaro Rittatore, pp. 1– 37. MR 1649623
- [Bri99] M. Brion, Rational smoothness and fixed points of torus actions, vol. 4, 1999, Dedicated to the memory of Claude Chevalley, pp. 127–156. MR 1712861
- [BW03] Sara C. Billey and Gregory S. Warrington, Maximal singular loci of Schubert varieties in SL(n)/B, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **355** (2003), no. 10, 3915–3945. MR 1990570
- [ByB73] A. Biał ynicki Birula, Some theorems on actions of algebraic groups, Ann. of Math. (2) 98 (1973), 480–497. MR 366940
- [Car94] James B. Carrell, The Bruhat graph of a Coxeter group, a conjecture of Deodhar, and rational smoothness of Schubert varieties, Algebraic groups and their generalizations: classical methods (University Park, PA, 1991), Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., vol. 56, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1994, pp. 53–61. MR 1278700
- [Car97] _____, The span of the tangent cone of a Schubert variety, Algebraic groups and Lie groups, Austral. Math. Soc. Lect. Ser., vol. 9, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1997, pp. 51–59. MR 1635674
- [CK03] James B. Carrell and Jochen Kuttler, Smooth points of T-stable varieties in G/B and the Peterson map, Invent. Math. 151 (2003), no. 2, 353–379. MR 1953262
- [Fan95] C. Kenneth Fan, A Hecke algebra quotient and properties of commutative elements of a Weyl group, ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 1995, Thesis (Ph.D.)–Massachusetts Institute of Technology. MR 2716583
- [Fan97] _____, Structure of a Hecke algebra quotient, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 10 (1997), no. 1, 139–167. MR 1396894
- [FS97] C. Kenneth Fan and John R. Stembridge, Nilpotent orbits and commutative elements, J. Algebra 196 (1997), no. 2, 490–498. MR 1475121
- [Ful93] William Fulton, Introduction to toric varieties, Annals of Mathematics Studies, vol. 131, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1993, The William H. Roever Lectures in Geometry. MR 1234037
- [Gau03] Stéphane Gaussent, Combinatorial tangent space and rational smoothness of Schubert varieties, Comm. Algebra 31 (2003), no. 7, 3111–3133. MR 1990263
- [GK15] William Graham and Victor Kreiman, Excited Young diagrams, equivariant K-theory, and Schubert varieties, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **367** (2015), no. 9, 6597–6645. MR 3356949
- [GK21] _____, Cominuscule points and Schubert varieties, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) **71** (2021), no. 6, 2519–2548. MR 4448543
- [GK22] _____, Equivariant K-theory and tangent spaces of Schubert varieties, Michigan Math. J. (2022), to appear.
- [GK24] _____, Computational considerations of cominuscule points in Schubert varieties, 2024.
- [Hum72] James E. Humphreys, Introduction to Lie algebras and representation theory, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1972, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, Vol. 9. MR 0323842 (48 #2197)
- [Hum90] _____, Reflection groups and Coxeter groups, Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, vol. 29, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1990. MR 1066460 (92h:20002)

- [KL79] David Kazhdan and George Lusztig, Representations of Coxeter groups and Hecke algebras, Invent. Math. 53 (1979), no. 2, 165–184. MR 560412
- [KL80] _____, Schubert varieties and Poincaré duality, Geometry of the Laplace operator (Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Univ. Hawaii, Honolulu, Hawaii, 1979), Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., XXXVI, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1980, pp. 185–203. MR 573434
- [KLR03] Christian Kassel, Alain Lascoux, and Christophe Reutenauer, *The singular locus of a Schubert variety*, J. Algebra **269** (2003), no. 1, 74–108. MR 2015302
- [KM04] Allen Knutson and Ezra Miller, Subword complexes in Coxeter groups, Adv. Math. 184 (2004), no. 1, 161–176. MR 2047852 (2005c:20066)
- [Knu09] Allen Knutson, Frobenius splitting, point-counting, and degeneration, 2009.
- [Kos61] Bertram Kostant, Lie algebra cohomology and the generalized Borel-Weil theorem, Ann. of Math. (2) 74 (1961), 329–387. MR 142696
- [Kum96] Shrawan Kumar, The nil Hecke ring and singularity of Schubert varieties, Invent. Math. 123 (1996), no. 3, 471–506. MR 97j:14057
- [Lak95] V. Lakshmibai, Tangent spaces to Schubert varieties, Math. Res. Lett. 2 (1995), no. 4, 473– 477. MR 1355708
- [Lak00a] _____, On tangent spaces to Schubert varieties, J. Algebra **230** (2000), no. 1, 222–244. MR 1774765
- [Lak00b] _____, On tangent spaces to Schubert varieties. II, J. Algebra **224** (2000), no. 2, 167–197. MR 1739576
- [LLM98] Venkatramani Lakshmibai, Peter Littelmann, and Peter Magyar, Standard monomial theory and applications, Representation theories and algebraic geometry (Montreal, PQ, 1997), NATO Adv. Sci. Inst. Ser. C Math. Phys. Sci., vol. 514, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 1998, Notes by Rupert W. T. Yu, pp. 319–364. MR 1653037
- [LS84] V. Lakshmibai and C. S. Seshadri, Singular locus of a Schubert variety, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 11 (1984), no. 2, 363–366. MR 752799
- [LS90] V. Lakshmibai and B. Sandhya, Criterion for smoothness of Schubert varieties in Sl(n)/B, Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. Math. Sci. **100** (1990), no. 1, 45–52. MR 1051089
- [Pap94] Paolo Papi, A characterization of a special ordering in a root system, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 120 (1994), no. 3, 661–665. MR 1169886
- [Pol94] Patrick Polo, On Zariski tangent spaces of Schubert varieties, and a proof of a conjecture of Deodhar, Indag. Math. (N.S.) 5 (1994), no. 4, 483–493. MR 1307965
- [Pro82] Robert A. Proctor, Classical Bruhat orders and lexicographic shellability, J. Algebra 77 (1982), no. 1, 104–126. MR 665167
- [Ros89] W. Rossmann, Equivariant multiplicities on complex varieties, Astérisque (1989), no. 173-174, 11, 313-330, Orbites unipotentes et représentations, III. MR 91g:32042
- [Ser01] Jean-Pierre Serre, Complex semisimple Lie algebras, Springer Monographs in Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2001, Translated from the French by G. A. Jones, Reprint of the 1987 edition. MR 1808366
- [Ste96] John R. Stembridge, On the fully commutative elements of Coxeter groups, J. Algebraic Combin. 5 (1996), no. 4, 353–385. MR 1406459 (97g:20046)
- [Ste97] _____, Some combinatorial aspects of reduced words in finite Coxeter groups, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 349 (1997), no. 4, 1285–1332. MR 1389789
- [Ste01] _____, Minuscule elements of Weyl groups, J. Algebra **235** (2001), no. 2, 722–743. MR 1805477

Department of Mathematics, University of Georgia, Boyd Graduate Studies Research Center, Athens, GA 30602

 $Email \ address: \verb"wag@uga.edu"$

Department of Mathematics and Physics, University of Wisconsin - Parkside, Kenosha, WI 53140

Email address: kreiman@uwp.edu